Tectonophysics 609 (2013) 675-689

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Tectonophysics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tecto

3.5 billion years of reshaped Moho, southern Africa

Jacek Stankiewicz^{a,b}, Maarten de Wit^{c,*}

^a Deutsches GeoForschungsZentrum-GFZ, Telegrafenberg, 14473 Potsdam, Germany

^b European Center for Geodynamics and Seismology, Walferdange, Luxembourg

^c Africa Earth Observatory Network–AEON, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University, Port Elizabeth, 6031, South Africa

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 July 2012 Received in revised form 25 August 2013 Accepted 26 August 2013 Available online 2 September 2013

Keywords: Moho Crustal thickness Archean Proterozoic Phanerozoic Thermo-tectonics

ABSTRACT

According to some previous studies, Archean continental crust is, on global average, apparently thinner than Proterozoic crust. Subsequently, the validity of this statement has been questioned. To provide an additional perspective on this issue, we present analyses of Moho signatures derived from recent seismic data along swaths 2000 km in length across southern Africa and its flanking ocean. The imaged crust has a near continuous age range between ca. 0.1 and 3.7 billion years, and the seismic data allow direct comparison of Moho depths between adjacent Archean, Proterozoic and Phanerozoic crust. We find no simple secular change in depth to Moho over this time period. In contrast, there is significant variation in depth to Moho beneath both Archean and Proterozoic crust; Archean crust of southern Africa displays as much crustal diversity in thickness as the adjacent Proterozoic crust. The Moho beneath all crustal provinces that we have analysed has been severely altered by tectono-metamorphic and igneous processes, in many cases more than once, and cannot provide unequivocal data for geodynamic models dealing with secular changes in continental crust formation. These results and conclusions are similar to those documented along ca. 2000 km swaths across the Canadian Shield recorded by Lithoprobe. Tying the age and character of the Precambrian crust of southern Africa to their depth diversities is clearly related to manifold processes of tectono-thermal 'surgery' subsequent to their origin, the details of which are still to be resolved, as they are in most Precambrian terranes. Reconstructing pristine Moho of the early Earth therefore remains a formidable challenge. In South Africa, better knowledge of 'fossilised' Archean crustal sections 'turnedon-edge', such as at the Vredefort impact crater (for the continental crust), and from the Barberton greenstone belt (for oceanic crust) is needed to characterize potential pristine Archean Moho transitions.

© 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction		
	1.1.	Kaapvaal Craton	677
	1.2.	Zimbabwe Craton	678
	1.3.	Limpopo Orogenic Belt	680
	1.4.	Proterozoic Moho beneath Namaqua Natal Mobile Belt (NNMB)	681
	1.5.	Proterozoic Moho beneath the Cape Mountains and Agulhas Bank (Outeniqua Basin)	682
	1.6.	Oceanic crust	683
	1.7.	Summary of results and tectono-thermal implications	683
	1.8.	Remnants of Archean Moho structures exposed at surface	684
	1.9.	Is Archean Moho exposed in the Vredefort dome?	685
2. Discussion and concluding remarks		ssion and concluding remarks	685
Acknowledgements		687	
References		687	

1. Introduction

Knowledge about the thickness and nature of Archean crust is of fun-

damental importance to constructing geodynamic models of the early

Review Article





TECTONOPHYSICS

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +27 41 504 2277; fax: +27 41 504 2369.

^{0040-1951/\$ -} see front matter © 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tecto.2013.08.033

Earth; and to test for secular changes in tectonic processes over Earth history. Throughout the 1970s and 1980s, thermal arguments that continental crust should thicken with age, as observed for oceanic crust, or that there was no discernable difference in its thickness with age, held sway (e.g. Jarchow and Thompson, 1989; Meissner, 1986; Mueller and Ansorge, 1989; Rudnick, 1995; Taylor and McLennan, 1985) until studies in the early 1990s showed that crust of preserved Archean segment (cratons; >2.5 Ga) is, on global average, apparently thinner than crust of Proterozoic domains (Durrheim and Mooney, 1991, 1992, 1994; Mooney et al., 1998). In these studies, depth to Archean Moho was estimated to range between 27 and 40 km thick, whilst this depth beneath Proterozoic crust varied between 40 and 55 km (Durrheim and Mooney, 1991, 1992). In addition, Archean crust was reported to be of low velocity, and with a Moho of low impedance contrast relative to Proterozoic crust (e.g. Gibbs, 1986).

Subsequently these studies were criticised because the seismic data on which they were based were of low guality and selectively used, rendering the results statistically unjustified (Wever, 1992). Indeed, all the studies acknowledged that there was insufficient data to conclusively resolve the issue. None-the-less, influential modern studies on the evolution of continental crust continue to indiscriminately use the global analyses of Durrheim and Mooney (1991, 1992), stating that Archean continental crust is thinner (and less underplated with high velocity basaltic crust) than Proterozoic and more recent crust (e.g. Hawkesworth et al., 2010; Hynes, 2001; Keller and Schoene, 2012; Moyen and van Hunen, 2012; Petitjean et al., 2006), despite evidence to the contrary based on high quality data of the world's most comprehensive crustmantle transition survey across the well-mapped, iconic Phanerozoic-Precambrian terranes of Canada (e.g. Lithoprobe, see Clowes, 2010; Cook et al., 2010; Eaton, 2005; Hammer and Clowes, 1997; Percival et al., 2012, and references therein).

Seismic profiles documenting reflective lower crust with a welldefined Moho have been recorded in numerous Proterozoic and Archean regions (Clowes, 2010; Hammer and Clowes, 1997; Mooney et al., 1998). Whilst older global datasets suggested that Moho impedance contrasts and continuity tend to decrease with age due to gradual disruption of reflective laminations (e.g., Gibbs, 1986), such a simple correlation with age is not supported by the comprehensive Canadian datasets (Cook et al., 2010; Hammer and Clowes, 1997). Instead, well-defined reflection Moho appears to correlate better with major deformational episodes tectonic and/or igneous underplating (Cook and Erdmer, 2005; Cook et al., 2010; Eaton, 2005). Whilst this reinforces the concept that ductile shear and the rheological properties of the Moho transition zone, lower crust and upper mantle play important roles in influencing the thickness and reflective character, Moho reflectivity is not a robust indicator with which to distinguish between specific tectonic processes, such as extension, compression, transpression, or delamination (Eaton, 2005; Hammer and Clowes, 1997). Other geological observations must be integrated to resolve the origin of specific Moho transitions (Cook, 2002; Cook and Erdmer, 2005; Cook et al., 2010).

To further test for variation in crustal thickness over deep-time, we present analyses of Moho signatures derived from more recent seismic data across southern Africa. Our analysis allows direct comparison of Moho depths between adjacent Archean, Proterozoic and Phanerozoic crust, recommended by Wever (1992) as a prerequisite to test the global scale generalisations of a crustal age versus thickness relationship.

To clarify our nomenclature in this paper, we specifically refer to 'shields' as stabilised, post-Archean continental domains in which Archean cratons are often embedded. In the literature the terms Kalahari Craton, Kalahari Shield and Kaapvaal Craton are often used indiscriminately, and interchangeable; and Kalahari Craton is sometimes erroneously used for the combined Kaapvaal and Zimbabwe Cratons. We use of 'Azanian Craton' rather than 'Kalahari Craton': the Archean Kaapvaal and Zimbabwe Cratons amalgamated along the Archean Limpopo Belt to form a single unit referred to as the Azanian Craton (de Wit, 2007; McCourt et al., 2004). Subsequent accretion in the Proterozoic by a

number of surrounding orogenic belts, such as the Natal–Namaqua Mobile Belt, inculcated the Azanian Craton into the Kalahari Shield that stabilised around 1.0 Ga; and later into a still larger Southern African Shield following younger peripheral orogenesis of the Pan African (ca. 600–700 Ma) and further stabilisation by 500 Ma (see inset in Fig. 1a).

The seismically imaged crust includes that of the Kaapvaal Craton (Fig. 1), the world's best preserved and studied Archean crust (and lithosphere), with an age range between 2.5 and 3.7 Ga (Adam and Lebedev, 2012; Carlson et al., 1996, 2000; Taylor et al., 2012, and references therein). The Kaapvaal Craton is flanked to the south by Mesoproterozoic crust of the Natal–Namagua Mobile Belt (NMMB), a medium grade granulite terrain ranging in age from ca. 1.0 to 2.0 Ga (Cornell et al., 2006; Eglington, 2006). The latter is overlain along the coastal mountains of southernmost Africa by Palaeozoic sedimentary rocks (Cape-Karoo sequences) that were subjected to deformation in the late Palaeozoic (0.25 Ga) to form the 'Cape Fold Belt' (Lindeque et al., 2007, 2011; Tankard et al., 2009). During the early Mesozoic this fold-and-thrust belt was in part eroded and covered by 2-7 km of Mesozoic sedimentary sequences, and subsequently exhumed again in the late Cretaceous during the Kalahari Epeirogeny (de Wit, 2007) to form the Cape Mountains (Scharf et al., 2013; Tinker et al., 2008). During the upper Mesozoic the entire southern African continental margin was affected also by widespread crustal extension related to the opening of the southern oceans, forming a wide, relative shallow continental shelf, known as the Agulhas Bank (ca. 100,000 km², about the size of Iceland), dissected by numerous Jurassic-Cretaceous rift-basins (e.g. Tinker et al., 2008). The southern edge of this continental shelf (known as the Diaz Marginal Ridge) abruptly terminates against the Agulhas Falkland Fracture Zone (AFFZ, Fig. 1). The Agulhas Bank is underlain by Mesoproterozoic crust with a shallow Moho (30-33 km, Durrheim, 1987; Hales and Nation, 1972; Parsiegla et al., 2009; Stankiewicz et al., 2008). South of the AFFZ is early Cretaceous oceanic crust that, farther south still, is overlain by a late Cretaceous oceanic plateau (the Agulhas Plateau), which has been interpreted in the past as a displaced section of continental crust (Scrutton, 1973; Tucholke et al., 1981), but is now recognised to comprise entirely of oceanic crust (Gohl et al., 2011; Parsiegla et al., 2008).

Before proceeding with our analyses, it is important to clearly state what is meant by the Moho. Geophysicists conventionally define the Moho as the first order P-wave velocity discontinuity representing the crust-mantle boundary. These velocities are typically estimated using refraction seismic experiments. However, the definition of the base of the crust based on velocities alone is often imprecise and open to debate. With refraction surveys virtually always verifying the jump in velocities, seismic reflection surveys often indicate a complex set of reflectors with no certain discontinuity level (see Doyle, 1995, for a review). Furthermore, the geophysically defined boundary is not necessarily coincident with the petrological Moho, defined by compositional change of the material (e.g. Mengel and Kern, 1992), but for which there is still no scientific consensus about its origin or petrologic significance (e.g. Eaton, 2005). Given that most of the results presented here are from seismic reflection and receiver function analyses, we define the Moho for the purposes of this article as a geophysical boundary, where abrupt changes in the elastic properties of the material lead to reflection or phase conversion of seismic waves.

It is imperative to point out also that using seismic waves to estimate the depth of the Moho, or any other discontinuity, knowledge of seismic velocities throughout, and beneath, the crust must be assumed. The depths calculated from the receiver function analysis require accurate information on both P-wave and the S-wave velocities, and these are typically taken as constant for the entire crust. This is clearly a simplification, and with these analyses alone it could be impossible to state whether observed Moho depth variations are real, or represent a change in either (or both velocities). The uncertainties associated with these would be at least 10%, which translates to 4–5 km depth. Crustal structures obtained from seismic reflection velocities are usually better constrained, as the velocity variations with depth can be accurately estimated from, e.g. cores. However in the study area this could only be determined for the upper 4–5 km from drill-core obtained on the Kaapvaal Craton. Below that velocities are estimated based on expected crustal rock types. Given these constraints, our analysis from receiver function and deep reflection studies, along sections where they can be directly compared, indicates excellent agreement within the uncertainties outlined above (e.g. Fig. 1c). The most accurate estimates of depth to Moho are given when reflection seismic lines coincide with refraction profiles. This way accurate velocities obtained from tomography can be projected into the reflection profiles, and depths to reflectors can be accurately calculated. This was done for all the Inkaba lines, on-shore and offshore.

1.1. Kaapvaal Craton

Understanding the nature of the continental Moho underlying the Archean Kaapvaal Craton was one of the primary targets of the Kaapvaal Craton Project and the South Africa Seismic Experiment (Carlson et al., 1996, 2000; de Wit et al., 2004, and references therein). Key questions included how the Moho differs within the craton, and whether it remains a pristine Archean discontinuity or has been reshaped in more recent times.

The Kaapvaal Craton can be divided into two different crustal domains of different ages, separated by an N–S divide known as the Colesberg lineament (Figs. 1, 2; Brandl and de Wit, 1997; Schmitz et al., 2004). Deep seismic reflection data show this lineament to be a complex, deep crustal tectonic shear system with a west dipping listric geometry rooted in the middle crust (e.g. Fig. 2; de Wit and Tinker, 2004). East of the Colesberg lineament, the Eastern Block of the Kaapvaal Craton sector (also referred to as the Witwatesrand Block) is older, with granitoid basement ages ranging between ca. 3.0 and 3.66 Ga (Armstrong et al., 2006; de Wit et al., 2011; Eglington and Armstrong, 2004; Xie et al., 2012; Zeh et al., 2011), variably deformed at ca. 3.4 and 3.2 Ga, but stabilised by 3.1–3.0 Ga (e.g. Schoene et al., 2008; Taylor et al., 2012). There are no deep seismic reflection sections across this part of the craton to verify deeper crustal structures.

The Western Block (also known as the Kimberley Block) ranges in age between 2.7 and 3.0 Ga, and has been affected by major compressive tectonism towards the end of the Archean, but was stable by 2.5 Ga (Schmitz et al., 2004). Deep seismic reflection data (vibroseis) has revealed a complex tectonically stacked crust along listric thrusts (which locally affect the Moho), overprinted at ca. 2.7 Ga by major listric normal faults related to rifting and extensive contemporaneous bimodal volcanism of the Ventersdorp Large Igneous Province - VLIP (Armstrong et al., 1991; Hatton, 1995; Johnson et al., 1996; Tinker et al., 2002) to produce a relatively flat and sharp Moho between 38 and 40 km (Fig. 2; de Wit and Tinker, 2004), consistent with local high resolution receiver function analyses (James et al., 2003). Petrology and thermochronology on felsic xenoliths from the lowermost crust of this region indicate ultra-high temperature metamorphism, and likely significant ductile flow and partial melting here at this Ventersdorp time (Schmitz and Bowring, 2003). Thus, crust down to the Moho here has a complex tectonic history and the present character of the lower crust and the depth to Moho do not represent a pristine Archean Moho transition.

The Witwatersrand Block of the Kaapvaal Craton was eroded and peneplained before the Neoarchean. In many places up to 10 km of granitoid crust were removed before ca. 2.9 Ga, after which terrestrial clastic deposits (i.e. the Witwatersrand and Pongola sequences) and then shallow marine rocks (i.e. the Transvaal Group) covered the peneplain (Fig. 3). Thereafter this regional peneplain was reworked repeatedly close to sea level, satisfying freeboard principles (e.g. Hynes, 2001) for nearly 2.5 Gyrs, until late Cretaceous epeirogenic activity rapidly uplifted the craton by up to 2 km (de Wit, 2007). The cause and rate of this uplift are still a matter of intense debate (compare for example Bell et al., 2003; Brown et al., 2002; Burke and Gunnell, 2008; Flowers and Schoene, 2010; Guillocheau et al., 2012; Nyblade and Sleep, 2003; Rouby et al., 2009; Tinker et al., 2008; Torsvik et al., 2010 — and an overview of this debate in de Wit, 2007), but the details are beyond the scope of this paper.

Receiver function analyses of teleseismic events recorded by the Kaapvaal Array (Nguuri et al., 2001; Stankiewicz et al., 2002) found the Moho depth beneath most of the craton to be 35-45 km, though some values over 50 km have been detected in the northern section of the craton (James et al., 2001, 2003; Kwadiba et al., 2003; Wright et al., 2003). Sharp velocity contrasts were observed across the discontinuity, leading to conclusions that the seismic Moho is clearly defined (Fig. 4). Whilst the results of Nguuri et al. (2001) assume a constant Poisson's ratio, more recent studies show this is an oversimplification (Kgaswane et al., 2009; Nair et al., 2006; Youssof et al., submitted for publication) and their Moho depth estimates are slightly different. The study of Nguuri et al. (2001) is based on the assumption that Vp/Vs = 1.73 across the entire region as shown in Fig. 1. Nair et al. (2006) tested what effect Vp/Vs would have on Moho depth calculation. Their biggest deviation, from 1.73 to 1.816, shows the depths to be less than 5% off (<2 km of error for Moho of 40 km). Most of Nair et al.'s (2006) value uncertainties put them between 1.71 and 1.75; their results compared to Nguuri et al. (2001) show some very small deviations, and the larger scale variations that are the scope of this study would not be affected.

In addition, Nui and James (2002) divide the Archean crust into upper and lower units and interpreted the lower crust composition as felsic to intermediate with an average density of 2.86 g/cm³. Youssof et al. (submitted for publication) use this density to derive an anisotropic model which suggests that the deep crust is layered, and includes a lower unit of ca. 20 km thick with at least 10% anisotropy. This layer is underlain by mantle transitional zone with ca. 5% anisotropy. Both units have similar trends of fast polarisation (ca. 40°N). Previous workers had identified this anisotropy to be restricted to the subcontinental mantle below Moho (e.g. Adam and Lebedev, 2012; Silver et al., 2001, 2004; Vinnik et al., 1995).

Northern sections of the Eastern Block reach Moho depths up to 50 + km, which is a value more typical for Proterozoic crust according to Durrheim and Mooney (1991, 1992). The main area of this thickness is found directly underlying the Proterozoic Bushveld igneous complex, a major, ca. 8 km thick mafic-ultramafic intrusive complex in the uppermost crust related to a Large Igneous Province (LIP) around 2.05 Ga (Cawthorn and Webb, 2001). The thick crust here extends as far as the Okwa Terrane in Botswana. The velocity contrast across the Moho in these regions is not distinct, suggesting a diffuse boundary of mafic layering, Nguuri et al. (2001) comment that such modified Moho is observed also beyond the surface geology and aeromagnetic signatures of the Bushveld Complex, suggesting that lower crustal and Moho modification might have been more widespread than can be inferred from surface maps. This is consistent with the suggestions that significant amounts of mafic material were added to the lower crust during the intrusions of the Paleoproterozoic Bushveld LIP at ca. 2.05 Ga (Cawthorn and Webb, 2001; Mapeo et al., 2004; Wright et al., 2003), and as expected from numerical models for the emplacement of such a large structure (e.g. Sobolev et al., 2011).

By contrast, there is no evidence from seismic or crustal xenolith analyses for evidence of significant amounts of mafic lower crustal material beneath the south and central parts of the Kaapvaal Craton, and the significant seismic anisotropy in the lower crust can be best explained by metamorphism and ductile flow (Youssof et al., submitted for publication) as suggested previously from the xenolith studies (Schmitz and Bowring, 2000, 2003). Such thermo-tectonic processes have clearly operated here repeatedly: 1 - During high grade lowercrustal metamorphism and partial melting at 2.7 Ga, overlapping withthe Ventersdorp LIP, as carefully documented from lower crustal xenoliths retrieved by kimberlites intruding the south and central parts ofthe craton (Schmitz and Bowring, 2003); <math>2 - During high grade lowercrustal metamorphism and partial melting flanking the southern margin of the craton at 1.1 Ga, associated with the Natal–Namaqua Orogeny (Schmitz and Bowring, 2000, 2004); and 3 – During substantial geothermal perturbations of 150–200 °C in the Mesozoic (ca. 0.1–0.2 Ga) beneath both the craton and the NMMB, associated with the Karoo LIP and widespread kimberlite activity during the extended break-up of Gondwana (Bell et al., 2003; de Wit, 2007; Jelsma et al., 2004). The effect of these thermotectonic events on reshaping the Moho is explored further below.

Youssof et al. (submitted for publication) propose a crustal model where isotropic felsic upper crust is separated from the lower crust by high grade foliated gneisses. Ductile stretching and flow of the lower crust during the multiphase metamorphic and melting processes would likely have caused local detachment between the crust and mantle, accentuating the sharpness and relatively flat nature of the older Archean Moho as is observed beneath this region (e.g. de Wit and Tinker, 2004; James et al., 2003).

1.2. Zimbabwe Craton

The Zimbabwe Craton is similar to the Kaapvaal Craton in many aspects, comprising a granite–greenstone terrain that has been significantly tectonised (Blenkinsop et al., 1997; Jelsma and Dirks, 2002). At surface, the crystalline mid-crust of this craton has a distinctly higher proportion of greenstones to granitoids (ca. 1:5) than that of the Kaapvaal Craton (1:10). The Zimbabwe Craton, in general, is Neoarchean in age



Fig. 1. a. Crustal thickness beneath sections of southern Africa inferred from geophysical experiments. Values are taken from receiver function studies of the Kaapvaal Craton seismic array (Nguuri et al., 2001; Stankiewicz et al., 2002), and seismic reflection and refraction experiments carried out in the framework of the Inkaba yeAfrica project (Parsiegla et al., 2009; Stankiewicz et al., 2008). The map is presented on a 0.5 degree grid, with depths estimated using a weighted average of results from the stations nearest to each grid point. Inset: crustal domains of southern Africa: yellow = Archean Azanian Craton [Kaapvaal + Zimbabwe cratons + Limpopo Belt]; enlarged in Paleo- and Mesoproterozoic (green) to form the Kalahari Shield; and expanding further still to form the Southern African Shield in the Neoproterozoic (blue). See text for further explanation. b. Same as (a), with tectonic features and locations of stations and sections indicated. Black and white triangles indicate the location of stations for which the crustal thickness is known; black = Kaapvaal Craton Project; white triangles and lines = Inkaba veAfrica Project refraction and reflection lines, respectively (for clarity only selected stations are shown; for details see Stankiewicz et al., 2008), Green, broken and solid lines = vibroseis lines (6 and 16 seconds, respectively). Long solid black lines ABC and DEF are sections shown in Fig. 4. Line G-H is a receiver function section to complement the composite 16 seconds vibroseis line (solid red line), which has been projected into G-H for direct comparison as c; see text. Where the Inkaba and Kaapvaal profiles overlap (including the vibroseis lines) they agree with each other within uncertainties (e.g. c). Short grey lines (ca. NE-SW trending) = averaged orientations of lower crustal and upper mantle anisotropies (from Silver et al., 2001; Vinnik et al., 1995; Youssof et al., 2013; see text for details). Major geological/tectonic boundaries outlined in blue; ZC: Zimbabwe Craton; LB: Limpopo Belt; SB: Shashe Block; WB, EB: Western and Eastern Blocks of Kaapvaal Craton; KB: Kheis Belt; BC: Bushveld Complex (in yellow); VD: Vredefort Dome; AGC: Ancient Gneiss Complex; NNMB: Namaqua Natal Mobile Belt; CFB: Cape Fold Belt. Onshore lineaments. 1: Colesberg, 2: Inoyka, 3: Thabizimbi-Murchison, 4, 5: southern and northern boundary of the Limpopo Belt. Offshore features. OB: Outeniqua Basin; DMR: Dias Marginal Ridge; AB: Agulhas Bank; AFFZ: Agulhas–Falkland Fracture Zone; AP: Agulhas Plateau. c: Moho depth along the transect from the Western Block (WB) of the Kaapvaal Craton to Eastern Block (EB) in the vicinity of the Vredefort dome; average age-span between crustal formation and stabilisation for the two blocks is also shown. Comparison of analysis from receiver function and deep reflection studies, along sections where they can be closely compared. Blue: This study. Red: extrapolated from vibroseis transection in de Wit and Tinker (2004). Locations of the transects are shown in b (black line, G-H = from receiver function data; intersecting red line = composite of adjacent deep vibroseis lines). Note that due to the absence of stations directly along the vibroseis section, the transections do not coincide precisely. Given the uncertainties in both methods of at least 10% (e.g. 4-5 km depth), the depth to Moho indicates an excellent agreement. See text for further explanation.



(2.6–3.0 Ga), younger than the general stabilisation of the Eastern Block of the Kaapvaal Craton (3.0–3.1 Ga), and in this respect is more akin to the Western Block. Work in northeastern Botswana (Bagai, 2008; Bagai et al., 2002; McCourt et al., 2004) has shown that this is also true for the Archean rocks there, and that there may be continuation between the Zimbabwe Craton and the Western Block of the Kaapvaal Craton (Fig. 1). However, in the south-central part of the Zimbabwe Craton, older granitic gneisses and greenstone belts of the Tokwe terrain

(3.0–3.6 Ga) flank the Limpopo Belt (Jelsma and Dirks, 2002; Zeh et al., 2009). These older rocks resemble parts of the older Eastern Block of the Kaapvaal Craton, such as the Barberton region in South Africa, the ancient Gneiss Complex in Swaziland, and farther south in Natal (Schoene et al., 2008, 2009; Taylor et al., 2012; Xie et al., 2012; Zeh et al., 2009).

In the central part of the Zimbabwe Craton Moho depths between 35 and 40 km have been measured (Barton and Klemd, 2010; Gore et al., 2009). This is a stark contrast to the south-western part of the craton, and in the Limpopo Belt, where depths near 50 km have been recorded.

1.3. Limpopo Orogenic Belt

The rocks of the Limpopo Belt and its western extension, known as the Shoshe Belt in Botswana, in general are high grade granitoids and supracrustal rock suites representing exhumed Archean– Paleoproterozoic mid- to lower-crust. Kimberlite xenolith mineralogy suggests that the lower crust of the belt is underlain by thick layers of mafic granulite and eclogite (Pretorius and Barton, 2003).

The Limpopo belt is characterised by a complex orogenic history between 2.0 and 3.66 Ga, but there appears to be no simple, single thermo-chronology for the tectono-metamorphic history of the Limpopo Belt as a whole (Barton et al., 2006). Its rocks were affected by Mesoarchean melting at 3.14 Ga, and again by regional deformation and partial melting in the Neoarchean (2.6–2.7 Ga), which is particularly well preserved along the northern and southern margins of the belt. Subsequently, a strong tectono-thermal overprint affected the Limpopo Belt at the end Paleoproterozoic (2.02–2.06 Ga), which is most prominently preserved within the central parts of the belt (Zeh et al., 2009).

Consequently, the upper crustal geology and geochemistry of the central Limpopo Belt's high-grade gneisses are distinct from the granitegreenstone crust of the two flanking cratons, justifying its identification as a separate crustal block (Barton et al., 2006; de Wit et al., 1992; McCourt and Vearncombe, 1992; Zeh et al., 2009, 2011). The uppermost 20–30 km of this Archean crust had been exhumed by the end of the Paleoproterozic (Barton et al., 2006; Blenkinsop et al., 1997; Zeh et al., 2009), but the details of the ca. 700 Myrs exhumation history between the two main metamorphic events (e.g. between 2.7 and 2.0 Ga) remain obscured.

The complex history of the Limpopo Belt has been interpreted in the past to reflect an exhumed Neoarchean orogen, comprising a central exotic crustal block remobilised during collision between a passive margin of the Kaapvaal Craton and an active Andean-like margin flanking the Zimbabwe Craton creating a thick crustal root (e.g. Roering et al., 1992). This simplicity is no longer tenable (Barton et al., 2006; Zeh et al., 2009). Whilst the Archean part of the orogen likely comprises deformed Archean arc terranes flanking the Limpopo Belt, it is speculated that the thick lower crust is Paleoproterozoic and may be related to the emplacement history of the adjacent Bushveld Complex during transpression/transtension between the Kaapvaal and Zimbabwe Craton (now



Fig. 2. a–c. a. Geology of southern Africa with locations and tectonic features referred to in the text. Note the outline of the Archean Kaapvaal and Zimbabwe Cratons is shown as one unit (thin black line), referred to as the Azanian Craton. Section lines ABC and DEF (blue), also shown in Fig. 1, along which depths to Moho are provided in Fig. 4. Lines 1 (red) and 2 (purple) represent the vibroseismic sections shown as b and c, respectively (map is modified from the frontispice of the Inkaba yeAfrica special volume of the South African Journal of Geology volume 114, 2011). b. Vibroseismic reflection profiles across part of eastern margin of the Eastern Block (from de Wit and Tinker, 2004). (i) Interpreted and (ii) uninterpreted. Strong reflectors marked in black; blue dashed line best estimate of Moho. These lines clearly depict the listric extensional faults related to the Ventersdorp. Note the relative flat Moho at 38–40 km, which compares directly to the Moho depth determined from the receiver function along this line (see Fig. 1 c). The Vredefort dome, projected onto line DE-86, occurs about 100 km to the north. For further details see text and de Wit and Tinker (2004). c. Interpreted composite profile from 16 second vibroseis lines projected into a common NW–SE section across the central Kaapvaal Craton, and the Colesburg anomaly (from de Wit and Tinker, 2004). The crustal section comprises 5–10 km thick panels separated by tectonic discontinuities, similar to those observed in many Lithoprobe sections. The thickness of the Ventersdorp and Witwatersrand Supergroups is constrained by drill holes, as shown. Ages of the panels are interpreted from service geology and drill cores (for detailed locations of sections and drill holes, see de Wit and Tinker, 2004, and text for details). Note that the depth to Moho is consistent with local high resolution receiver function analyses (Nguuri et al., 2001).



Fig. 2 (continued).

collectively known as the Azanian Craton). These interpretations remain part of an unresolved debate about the origin and evolution of the Limpopo Belt (Bagai, 2008; Barton et al., 2006; Zeh et al., 2009).

The Limpopo Belt is characterised by the most complex Moho structure found beneath the Archean crust of southern Africa. Early seismic studies using mine tremors as sources (Stuart and Zengeni, 1987) observed the Moho as a strong P-wave velocity contrast at depths between 30 and 35 km, but no seismic reflections were observed at this discontinuity during a subsequent reflection seismic experiment (Durrheim et al., 1992). Indeed, studies of receiver functions from the Kaapvaal Craton seismic array (Nguuri et al., 2001; Stankiewicz et al., 2002) found that in some cases the identification of the Moho is ambiguous, with weak Ps signal on receiver function analysis implying a structurally complex Moho at depths of up to, and even over 50 km (e.g. 56 km and possibly deeper, Barton et al., 2006). However, a clear crustal discontinuity at 30-35 km depth is also observed (Gore et al., 2009; Nguuri et al., 2001) - these studies, however, do not observe a significant velocity contrast across this discontinuity, and concluded it cannot be the Moho. Geothermobarometry studies on deep crustal xenoliths from the diamondiferous Venetia kimberlite that intrudes the central Limpopo Belt suggest the presence of a thick layer (>10 km) of medium pressure mafic granulite and eclogite at the base of the Moho (Barton and Klemd, 2010; Pretorius and Barton, 2003). We postulate therefore that the present-day Moho beneath the central and southern sections of the Limpopo Belt is deeper than 45–50 km, but is not clearly visible due to many kilometres of mafic underplating, likely related to the Bushveld and possibly also the earlier Ventersdorp LIP events.

Beneath the northern section of the belt the crustal thickness decreases rapidly to less than 40 km, similar to the values found beneath the Zimbabwe Craton. This is consistent with the geological surface observations that indicate a thin crustal slice of the Limpopo crust has been thrust northward across the Zimbabwe Craton (e.g. Barton et al., 2006). Beneath the southern margin of the belt, comprising high-grade Kaapvaal cratonic material thrust across and over the adjacent lower grade granite-greenstone Pietersburg Block of the Kaapvaal Craton, Moho depths similarly decrease across the terrane boundaries to 40–42 km.

1.4. Proterozoic Moho beneath Namaqua Natal Mobile Belt (NNMB)

This orogenic belt accreted to the southern edge of the Kaapvaal Craton at ca. 1.0–1.3 Ga (Cornell et al., 2006). The Mesoproterozoic crustal components of the NNMB date between 1.0 and 2.0 Ga and comprise a number of allochthonous terranes of high grade metamorphic



Fig. 3. Archean peneplain (ca. 3.0 Ga) cut across 3.08–3.66 Ga crystalline basement of the Eastern Block of the Kaapvaal Craton, including the Barberton Greenstone Belt rocks (foreground). By 3.0 Ga, about 7–10 km of early Archean rocks had been eroded from above the peneplain, and covered by shallow water terrestrial and marine sequences dated between 2.9 and 2.7 Ga, including the Transvaal Group, indicating that the Archean continent had stabilised by early Neoarchean times (de Wit, 2007). Numerous locally preserved subsequent sedimentary and volcanic sequences with marine incursions indicate that the peneplain surface was episodically rejuvenated close to sea level until the late Mesozoic, after which marine sediments are absent; the peneplain is now at about 1800 masl (modified from de Wit, 2007). Note how this relatively flat present day surface of the craton 'mimics' the relatively flat Moho ca. 40 km beneath it, and that both the top and the bottom of the Archean crust of Southern Africa represent complex palimpsets, as discussed in this paper.

granitoids tectonically interleaved with clastic and chemical sediments (Cornell et al., 2006; Dewey et al., 2006; Eglington, 2006; Eglington and Armstrong, 2004). Granulite metamorphism is of high temperature and relative low pressure type, and the exposed rocks of this belt reflect mid- to lower crustal thermotectonic processes of terrane accretion along a transpressive continental margin of the Kaapvaal Craton, followed by extension during tectonic collapse and exhumation (e.g. Dewey et al., 2006). Along the eastern sector of the margin, in Natal, seismic reflection data are consistent with models that suggest the NNMB rocks are thrust northwards across the southern part of the craton (de Wit and Tinker, 2004).

The Moho of the NNMB is generally sharp, with crustal thickness exceeding 40 km, possibly reaching up to 50 km in places (Harvey et al., 2001; Nguuri et al., 2001). But these are the results from the relatively few stations located on the belt during the Kaapvaal Craton experiment, and a much clearer image can be presented from recent controlled source seismic experiments carried out in the framework of the Inkaba yeAfrica project (de Wit and Horsfield, 2006).

A near vertical reflection seismic experiment (Lindeque et al., 2007, 2011) provided a clear image of the Moho structure below the NMMB along a ca. 100 km north–south profile from Slingersfontein to Prince Albert near the tectonic front of the Cape Fold Belt (Fig. 1). A sharp, continuous Moho, undulating slightly between 42 and 45 km depth is observed for the profile. Whilst most of the crystalline crust comprises stacked listric fragments, the lowermost 1–2 km of the NNMB crust along this line is continuous and characterised by increased reflectivity, sub-parallel to Moho, suggesting compositional differentiation and underplating. This may represent a layer of mafic gneiss, consistent with suggestions that the NNMB has been underplated by basalts (Dewey et al., 2006; Lindeque et al., 2011). From ca. 30°S, just north of the Cape Mountains, the Moho dips southwards, reaching depths close to 45 km beneath the frontal mountain ranges. Unfortunately, for logistical reasons the profile could not be extended across the Cape Mountains.

1.5. Proterozoic Moho beneath the Cape Mountains and Agulhas Bank (Outeniqua Basin)

Also in the framework of Inkaba yeAfrica (de Wit and Horsfield, 2006), two onshore–offshore seismic refraction profiles were carried out (Parsiegla et al., 2009; Stankiewicz et al., 2008). These near parallel profiles (Fig. 1), approximately 200 km apart, started in the Karoo Basin, traversed across the Cape Mountains, and continued offshore across the Agulhas Bank where it contains the Outeniqua Basin and the Agulhas Falkland Fracture Zone (AFFZ). The eastern profile extended farther south beyond the AFFZ onto the Agulhas Plateau (Fig. 1).

The results of these seismic experiments and the reflection seismic experiment discussed above also show a slight increase in Moho depth (by 3–5 km) beneath the exhumed Cape Fold Belt front. Farther south the Moho rises very abruptly, from depth of ca. 40 to ca. 30 km over a lateral distance of ca. 50 km (Stankiewicz et al., 2008). This shallowing occurs about 50 km inland of the present day coastline, beneath a coastal plain that was shaped as a Cretaceous–Eocene marine-cut platform, and from which a thickness of up to 7 km overburden was removed during Cretaceous (120–80 Ma) exhumation of the Cape Fold Belt, and a further 1 km or so during the Cenozoic (Scharf et al., 2013; Tinker et al., 2008).

The lower crust in this region exhibits very high P-wave velocities (>7 km/s, Stankiewicz et al., 2008). This is consistent with high lower crustal and upper mantle velocities calculated as early as 1972 (Hales and Nation, 1972). Crustal rocks with such velocities are likely to represent mafic igneous rocks, or their metamorphosed equivalents (amphibolites, mafic granulites). As most seismic studies of the NNMB in other locations (e.g. Green and Durrheim, 1990; Hirsch et al., 2008) did not identify such high velocities in the lower crust, this underplating is unlikely to be a Mesoproterozoic property of the NNMB basement, and is more likely to represent mafic material added to the base of the crust during younger magmatism. The most likely events to produce



Fig. 4. a and b. Sections ABC and DEF summarising variations in depth to Moho across terranes of southern Africa, based on seismic data from Harvey et al., 2001; Parsiegla et al., 2009; Stankiewicz et al., 2002, 2008; see also Fig. 1. Note the range in age from 0.1 to 3.7 Ga, For location see Fig. 1. VD and BC mark the proximity to Vredefort Dome and Bushveld Complex. The dashed line under the Limpopo Belt shows a depth of Moho 50 km, which has been recorded (e.g. Nguuri et al., 2001), though due to sparse station coverage is not visible on our cross-section. c. Onshore-offshore P-wave velocity section across southern margin of Africa (1.0 to 0.1 Ga, respectively). Note the thickened crust beneath the Cape Fold Belt, the abrupt thinning inland from the present coast, and the gradual stretching towards the AFFZ.

Modified from Stankiewicz et al. (2008).

such volumes of underplating are those associated with Large Igneous Provinces (LIPs) in mid-Jurassic times (Karoo: ca. 182 Ma); the early Cretaceous (Etendeka: ca. 135 Ma) and/or the late-Cretaceous (Agulhas: ca. 100 Ma; see below).

Farther south the crust continues to thin, albeit much more gradually, for another 250 km underneath the Agulhas Bank, Outeniqua Basin and the Diaz Marginal Ridge (Fig. 1), until the Agulhas-Falkland Fracture Zone (AFFZ) is reached. The crust north of the AFFZ is continental of NNMB-type (Lindeque et al., 2011), but has been extensively stretched during the opening of the Southern Oceans. Parsiegla et al. (2009) performed an analysis of crustal stretching factors and concluded that two separate stretching episodes are necessary to explain the geometry of the Moho. These authors propose that rifting associated with the break-up of East- and West-Gondwana in middle to late Jurassic times, which gave rise to seafloor spreading in Riiser Larsen and Weddell Seas off Antarctica (e.g. Eagles and König, 2008; König and Jokat, 2006), resulted in crustal thinning over the whole Agulhas Bank and up to at least 50 km inland of the present day coast. The second episode is likely to have been the result of shear motion along the active Agulhas Falkland transform system in the early Cretaceous times. This is consistent with seismic reflection and well data (Broad et al., 2006; McMillan et al., 1997), which exhibit an upper Valanginian unconformity (135 Ma), as well as evidence for strike-slip faulting throughout the southern Outeniqua Basin.

1.6. Oceanic crust

Immediately south of the Diaz Marginal Ridge (DMR), the Moho rises from ~25 to ~15 km over a lateral distance of ~50 km. This rise, and the average P-wave velocity of ~6 km/s near it, is the typical characteristics of a Continent-Ocean Transition (COT) zone. Typical oceanic crust (120-160 Ma) is observed in the Agulhas Passage, until the Agulhas Plateau (80-100 Ma). This later structure rises about 2.5 km above the surrounding ocean floor, and the Moho underneath it is found at a depth between 20 and 22 km (e.g. Gohl et al., 2011; Parsiegla et al., 2008, 2009). The first attempt to measure the Moho depth here was remarkably accurate: Graham and Hales (1965) obtained a value of 21 km from offshore gravity measurements. This is almost an expected value for continental thickness, which previously led to suggestions that the Plateau is a displaced section of the African continent (e.g. Scrutton, 1973; Tucholke et al., 1981). However, large magnetic anomalies within the Plateau (Le Pichon and Heirtzler, 1968) and the lack of significant return of continental rocks from dredge hauls (Tucholke et al., 1981) can only be explained by assuming it is of volcanic origin.

Recent seismic experiments (Gohl and Uenzelmann-Neben, 2001; Gohl et al., 2011; Parsiegla et al., 2008; Uenzelmann-Neben et al., 1999) presented velocity models and identified seismic reflectors in the crust. High velocities associated with volcanic material and evidence for lava flows have conclusively demonstrated the Plateau to be of volcanic origin. Parsiegla et al. (2008) presented a model mapping in detail the extrusive cover and intruded layers of middle and lower crust. The lower two-thirds of the crustal column exhibit P-wave velocities of more than 7.0 km/s, increasing to 7.5 to 7.6 km/s at the crustal base. These velocities suggest that the lower crust was accreted by large volumes of mantle-derived material to form an over-thickened oceanic layer (Gohl et al., 2011). Gohl et al. (2011) and Uenzelmann-Neben et al. (1999) estimate that the formation of the Plateau was related to the deep Bouvet plume and occurred between 100 and 80 Ma, making it by far the youngest, but by no means the thinnest crust along the transect presented here.

1.7. Summary of results and tectono-thermal implications

Fig. 1 summarises the recent results of the depth to Moho from the seismic data described above, and Fig. 4 presents a number of sections along ca. 600-2000 km swaths across the southern African crust. Depth to Moho in individual regions is as follows: the Eastern part of the Kaapvaal Craton: 44.2 + / - 3.2 km; the Western part of the Kaapvaal Craton: 40.1 + - 2.7 km; the Zimbabwe Craton 38 + - 1.6 km; the Limpopo Belt: 40–50; the NNMB: 43.1 +/- 1.9 km; the Agulhas Bank continental shelf: stretched from 30 to 25 km; the oceanic crust: 8 + / - 1.5 km; and the Agulhas Oceanic Plateau: 20–22 km.

The thinnest cratonic crust is Neoarchean (dated between ca. 2.5 and 3.0 Ga), and is mostly confined to the southern part of the

Western (Kimberley) Block, which is younger than the thicker Eastern (Witwatersrand) Block (ca. 3.0–3.6 Ga). Geology and vibroseismic data (Fig. 2) imply that this thinning is inherited from significant late Archean crustal stretching that took place during subaerial Ventersdorp rifting (ca. 2.7 Ga). The teleseismic data (Receiver Function analyses) indicate that thinnest Archean section of cratonic crust is felsic (consistent with the xenolith data from this region), and around 40 km for the southwestern Kimberley Block with a range across the entire block of ca. 37-43 km. Deep vibroseis probing (eight 16 second TWT lines; Fig. 1) along a composite NW-SE section across the central sector of the Western (Kimberley) Block penetrated well below a clear Moho, confirming its depths between 36 and 41 km (13-16 seconds TWT; de Wit and Tinker, 2004; Fig. 2). This work also revealed a composite crust comprising a tectonic stack of moderate to shallow, mostly westdipping crustal sections down to Moho that lacks mafic underplating. This early stacking is likely related to the accretion between the Eastern and Western Bocks of the Kaapvaal Craton around 2.8-2.9 Ga, but is also overprinted by pervasive extension at ca. 2.7 Ga (de Wit and Tinker, 2004). The lowest values of Moho depths occur in the general region affected by extensive crustal-scale listric normal faulting and asymmetric graben formation associated with regional extension tectonics during outpourings of the 2.7-2.65 Ga mafic volcanic lavas of the Ventersdorp LIP (Hatton, 1995; Tinker et al., 2002). Detailed analyses of seismic reflection data reveal that Ventersdorp volcano-sedimentary sequences are thickest along the western margin of the Craton, including in asymmetric rifts with thick volcano-clastic sequences that can be traced more than 600 km across this sector of the Kaapvaal Craton. The shape of this Ventersdorp material is wedge-like, thickening towards the western Craton margin where the Ventersdorp basalt sequences reach up to 9 km thick. This margin has consequently been interpreted as an Archean equivalent of a modern 'passive' continental-ocean transition, with a calculated low effective elastic thickness of 7.5 to 10 km between ca. 2.7 and 2.0 Ga (Tinker et al., 2004).

During the Ventersdorp times, crustal extension and magmatism was more diffuse farther west across the Eastern (Witwatersrand) Block of the Craton, but it affected almost the entire Craton none-theless. For example, it coincides with an elevated palaeo-thermal gradient peak of at least 40–65 °C at ca. 2.7 Ga affecting the mid-crust as far east as the present eastern margin of the Kaapvaal Craton, and as far north as the central Limpopo Belt. This is corroborated by ultra-high temperature metamorphism at 2.72 Ga in the lower and middle crust determined by U/Pb thermochronology on minerals from lower crustal xenoliths retrieved in kimberlites from the south central region (Schmitz and Bowring, 2003); and by high-grade anatectic melting of the middle crust in the Ancient Gneiss Complex in Swaziland at 2.73 Ga (Taylor et al., 2010, 2012). Unfortunately there is no seismic data anywhere across the Ancient Gneiss Complex to test for depth to Moho and possible mafic underplating at 2.7 Ga.

Stratigraphic and basin analyses indicate that after 2.0 Ga, the passive western continental margin of the craton recovered to its present day effective elastic thickness value of 60 to 70 km (Doucouré and de Wit, 2003; Tinker et al., 2004), following tectonic loading across the western edge of the Kaapvaal Craton by east-directed thin-skinned thrusts between ca. 1.8 and 1.9 Ga, the age of regional Olifantshoek deformation in the tectonic Kheis Belt that flanks the entire western margin of the craton (Tinker et al., 2004).

Old diamonds (ranging from ca. 1.5 to 3.2 Ga; Pearson, 1999; Pearson et al., 1998; Shirey and Richardson, 2011; Shirey et al., 2002) retrieved from kimberlites in the general area of relative thin cratonic crust indicate that the low elastic strength of the Archean lithosphere in the Paleoproterozoic here was not due to the lack of thick, mechanically strong and relatively cool subcontinental mantle lithosphere. The low palaeo-elastic crustal thickness was therefore most likely related to the relative hot extended lower crust during Ventersdorp times at ca. 2.7 Ga, consistent with a location near the western passive continental margin of the craton throughout the late Archean to Paleoproterozoic. This is apparently still reflected in its relative shallow felsic crust here, despite subsequent partial recovery during thermal subsidence and Transvaal marine transgressions (de Wit and Tinker, 2004; Tinker et al., 2002).

The oldest, Paleo- to Meso-Archean section of the craton corresponds to the thickest cratonic crust, with an average thickness around 44 km (ranging from 41 to 48 km). However, the thickest component is near-coincident with the area covered by the 2.05 Ga Bushveld Igneous Complex (>60.000 km² in aerial extent). It is likely therefore that a contribution to this thickness reflects Paleoproterozoic addition of mafic material underplated below the lower granitic crust, and by up to 8 km thick intrusions into the upper crust (James et al., 2001; Nguuri et al., 2001; Wright et al., 2003). It is likely that this mafic underplating extended north also beneath the Limpopo Belt (Gore et al., 2009). A 5–10 km addition of mafic material to the lower crust across such a wide region is consistent with the seismic data and numerical simulation of plume-like activity during punctuated emplacement of a large volume of mantle melt to form a late Paleoproterozoic LIP (e.g. Sobolev et al., 2011).

Thus, whilst Archean rigidity of this crust of the Eastern Block was already well established by ca. 3.0 Ga (de Wit et al., 1992, 2011; Moser et al., 2001), the lowermost crust of this cratonic fragment experienced at least two significant episodes of remobilisations and mafic underplating (at 2.7 and 2.0 Ga) that significantly reshaped an early Archean Moho.

We can confidently conclude then that neither of the Kaapvaal crustal blocks nor the Limpopo block appears to have preserved pristine Archean thicknesses from the time they were first stabilised. In the case of the Western and south-central Eastern Blocks, thinning and lower crustal melting occurred about 2.7 Ga, and mid-crustal melting at this time extended in many places as far as the eastern Margin of the Craton. Additionally, the northeast of the Eastern Block, and likely the Limpopo Belt, were underplated by hot mafic mantle material around 2.0 Ga. Earlier, the crust of both blocks had already experienced extensive tectono-thermal remobilisation histories. For example, widespread lower crustal melting occurred during a prolonged period of extensional deformation throughout most of the Eastern Block at 3.08-3.14 Ga, creating a thick brittle 'carapace' of upper granitefelsic volcanic crust at that time (Armstrong et al., 2006; de Wit et al., 1992; Dirks et al., 2009; Hart et al., 2004; Moser et al., 2001; Schoene et al., 2008; Taylor et al., 2012; Zeh et al., 2009; e.g. see Fig. 3). By contrast the Western Block along the Colesberg Lineament and the flanks of the Limpopo Belt likely had formed thickened crust during the accretion tectonism in the early Neoarchean. Other more local Archean events are beyond the scope of this paper, but the reader is referred to Eglington and Armstrong (2004) for further documentation.

It is safe then to conclude that on a regional scale, Neoarchean compressional tectonism at ca. 2.9 Ga, followed by extensional tectonism associated with the Ventersdorp LIP-event at 2.7 Ga, and Paleoproterozoic basaltic underplating at 2.0 Ga, significantly reshaped the original Mesoarchean and Neoarchean Moho of the Eastern Block, and the Western Block, respectively. These two different processes – tectonic and magmatic – changed the seismic and petrologic characters of the Archean lower crust beneath most if not all of the Kaapvaal Craton and, with contemporary melting both sharpened and diffused the original Moho transition, respectively. Beneath the Bushveld Complex especially, Archean crustal thickness and characteristics must have changed beyond recognition, since the mega-scale of this Proterozoic intrusion must have induced a complete restructuring of the Moho (c.f. Sobolev et al., 2011).

1.8. Remnants of Archean Moho structures exposed at surface

The overview above implies that reconstructing the thickness and internal structure of pristine Archean crust and Moho remains a formidable challenge. One way to realise this quest is to focus on geological, geophysical and geochemical studies of crustal sections with potential Mesoarchean Moho transitions exposed at surface. Both Archean oceanic and continental examples have been identified on the Kaapvaal Craton. The former in the craton's greenstone belts, especially in the Barberton greenstone belt that contains Mesoarchean ophiolite fragments (3.2-3.4 Ga) related to suprasubduction processes (Furnes et al., 2013a, in press). These oceanic crustal segments were tectonically stacked during 3.2-3.1 Ga accretion processes of the Eastern Block of the Kaapvaal (Armstrong et al., 2006; de Wit et al., 2011; Furnes et al., 2012, 2013a; Taylor et al., 2012). In the case of the Barberton greenstone belt, well exposed sections containing juxtaposed chemical enriched and depleted plutonic ultramafic components, which were deformed at high temperatures, occur in tectonic contact with 2-3 km thick basaltic crustal sections (de Wit, 2004; de Wit et al., 2011) that do not display oceanic plateau geochemistry (Furnes et al., 2012, 2013a, in press). It is therefore highly probable that 'normal' oceanic crust-mantle transitions are preserved in the plutonic sequences. The true original thickness of this Archean ocean crust preserved on the Kaapvaal Craton cannot yet be precisely determined, since the crustal and mantle sections are mostly tectonically separated, but is highly unlikely to have been greater than 10 km (de Wit et al., 1987, 2011; Furnes et al., 2012, 2013a). Work is on-going to restore the sections, but appropriate geophysical data is still wanted to further guide this work.

In the case of continental crust, a unique Archean 'crust-on-edge' profile is exposed at the Vredefort circular dome, interpreted as a megaimpact site with a central uplift that formed at 2.02 Ga near the centre of the Kaapvaal Craton across which the vertical architecture of Mesoarchean crust can be viewed (Gibson and Reimold, 2008; Hart et al., 1981; Slawson, 1976). The impact structure has exposed a Mesoarchean crustal section 20–36 km thick, possibly down to the Archean Moho (Hart et al., 1990, 2004; Moser et al., 2001), although there is considerable controversy about this interpretation (e.g. Lana et al., 2003, 2004). Below we briefly highlight the Vredefort example which clearly provides crucial information not directly available through present day deep seismic analyses, but may provide a solid guideline, together with the crustal xenolith data, with which to unravel the character of pristine Archean continental crust

1.9. Is Archean Moho exposed in the Vredefort dome?

In the Neoarchean crust of the Kaapvaal, the Vredefort dome provides a continuous, albeit very poorly exposed, >20 km-thick section through granitic rocks representing middle to lower crust. The section is unconformably overlain by upper crust comprising more than 15 km of overturned Neoarchean sedimentary and volcanic rocks. Roughly restored, this yields a total thickness of some 36 km of crust, in turn underlain by ultramafic rocks with residual mantle geochemistry.

The middle crustal layer of this section is an 8–12 km thick granite gneiss domain composed of 3.08–3.1 Ga massive to slightly foliated granites. The lower crust component is a ca. 10–12 km thick charnockites-enderbite (granulite) banded gneiss complex dated between 3.1 and 3.5 Ga. It also contains relic fragments of ca. 3.5 Ga supracrustal rocks derived from greenstone belt material, but there is no evidence of extensive mafic granulites here (Lana et al., 2004).

The contact between the middle and lower crust is transitional over a distance of several kilometres (Armstrong et al., 2006; Hart et al., 1990, 2004; Lana et al., 2003, 2004; Moser et al., 2001). The lower crustal rocks are in turn underlain by depleted ultramafic rocks, but the contact with the granite crust is not exposed (Hart et al., 1990).

Originally a radial section across the Vredefort dome was interpreted to reveal a continuous Archean continental 'crust-on-edge' section ca. 36 km thick (Hart et al., 1981; Slawson, 1976) that terminated in the centre of the dome with an underlying, but unexposed, depleted ultramafic section (Hart et al., 1990; penetrated through cored-drilling). For nearly three decades this section was interpreted as a relatively pristine transect through Archean continental crust into the upper mantle across a relatively sharp Moho transition zone. Subsequent field work has shown that the section is geologically much more complicated to restore yet with any degree of confidence (e.g. Armstrong et al., 2006; Gibson and Reimold, 2008; Hart et al., 2004; Lana et al., 2004).

Structural work suggests the section comprises a stacked sequence of different granitoid fragments (Hart et al., 2004) that make up a deformed arc-like complex (Armstrong et al., 2006; Gibson and Reimold, 2008). However there is unresolved debate about whether the lower crustal section is predominantly 3.5 Ga (Hart et al., 2004) or is younger than 3.2 Ga (Armstrong et al., 2006), and at present there is no consensus on how to geologically restore the crustal section prior to impact; the outcrop is simply too poor, and the geophysics is simply not of the fidelity yet to compensate for the lack of surface exposures. However, if the lower section of the continental crust at Vredefort is representative of the Mesoarchean, then its distinct felsic nature supports the model of an Archean crust–mantle transition in which there is little mafic (granulite) material in the lower crust (c.f. Durrheim and Mooney, 1994).

Since the Vredefort section may indeed be the world's only preserved section through Archean crust directly underlain by mantle material, it deserves new attention through combined deep geophysics and drilling.

Finally, if the interpretation of the ca. 36 km crust-on-edge section has merit, and because the Vredefort dome is today underlain by 36–40 km crust with a subhorizontal Moho (Durrheim et al., 1991; Wright et al., 2003), the present Moho must be entirely annealed and of post-2.02 Ga age; it likely formed by crustal flow and melting following impact, and is not therefore pristine Archean Moho. Because this younger Moho can be connected and correlated with the 'flat' regional seismic Moho of the craton, this provides the most compelling evidence that the present day Moho is mostly a relatively young subhorizontal tectono-thermal surface that has been repeatedly rejuvenated to truncate across the complex stacked crust and amalgamated blocks that make up the Archean craton. Thus the Moho beneath the Kaapvaal Craton geometrically simulates the craton's erosional peneplain at surface: both the top and the bottom of the crust of Southern Africa are complex palimpsests.

2. Discussion and concluding remarks

The most important first order observation of our analyses shows that there is no simple age-depth relationship, and no obvious thickening of crust from the Archean to the Present. If anything our swaths across the 2000 km of crust dated between 100 and 3600 million years shows the opposite - a general decrease in depth to Moho towards the present, except beneath the Agulhas Plateau. But the latter is likely related to relative recent crustal plume activity linked to the African lower mantle superswell (e.g. Burke et al., 2008; Gohl et al., 2011; Torsvik et al., 2010). Above all, however, the results cannot be interpreted to reflect a simple secular change of Moho over this time period. Results from the Kaapvaal Craton and surrounding terrains indicate that there is significant variation in depth to Moho beneath both Archean and Proterozoic crust. The data also shows that the Archean crust of southern Africa displays as much crustal diversity in thickness as its adjacent Proterozoic crust; and that these variations are similar to those recovered across present continents elsewhere at averaged regional scales (e.g. 5×5 or $2 \times 2^{\circ}$ as in CRUST 5.1 and its successor 2.0, respectively; Mooney et al., 1998; http://igppweb.ucsd.edu/~gabi/crust2. html), except below large active mountain systems. Debate about depth to pristine Archean Moho based on seismic analyses of southern Africa crust therefore remains unresolved.

Wever (1992) argued that the data presented from all Archean terrains was selective, in that sometimes minimum values for crustal thicknesses of Archean crust were compared to maximum thicknesses of Proterozoic crust, thus compromising the statistical significance of the results. He also pointed out that some relatively thick Archean regions were ignored where later tectonic thickening could be inferred (e.g. the Kapuskasing structure of the Superior Craton, Canada; Percival and West, 1994). Since information for tectonic thickening (or thinning) or significant crustal erosion is not always objectively available from surface observations of Archean cratons, the original depth to Moho of these regions becomes prone to subjective analyses (Wever, 1992). Comparisons of Archean and Proterozoic crustal structure should be considered, therefore, in unison with knowledge of local geology, since differences that do exist may be more related to local or regional tectono-thermal overprints than due to secular changes, so that only adjacent terrains should be compared before original thicknesses may be restored. In that respect, the tectonically amalgamated Archean Kaapvaal Craton and the Proterozoic NNM Belt provide a near unique opportunity to explore such comparison; and at first glance the seismic Moho looks remarkable simple as a relatively young feature that cuts across the tectonic boundary between these two blocks, truncating older tectonic fabrics in the overlying crust.

But there is a further uniqueness in being able to compare the above mentioned findings with those from Canada, in order to test our findings against global scale generalisations of a crustal age versus thickness relationship. It is important to be able to do this against the Canadian Lithoprobe data-base because of its unrivalled quality on both continental-scale and regional details that have been carefully integrated with crustal geology and geochronology (Clowes, 2010; Percival et al., 2012).

First, there are many apparent similarities between our analyses of the Kalahari Shield and the Moho findings across the Archean and Proterozoic sections of the Canadian Shield. But, compared to the Kaapvaal Craton, the Neoarchean crust in Canada appears to have more pristine Neoarchean Moho preserved beneath the Superior Province (32–40 km), since in several places moderate-dipping Archean sutures zones can be traced across near flat sections of Moho into the underlying mantle (Calvert et al., 1995; Cook et al., 2010; Ludden and Hynes, 2000). Beneath the Western Block of the Kaapvaal Craton, which is a near ageand rock-equivalent of the Superior Province, similar features beneath the Moho have been proposed to exist (Fig. 2), but these are based on poor seismic images and cannot be traced with similar confidence across the Moho into overlying crust or be shown as unequivocally Archean in age (de Wit and Tinker, 2004).

Second, the Moho transition across the Archean Superior Province to the Mesoproterozoic Grenville Belt represents the equivalent transition across the Archean–Mesoproterozoic Moho boundary along our Kalahari Shield transect, since the Grenville Belt is a near age- and rock-equivalent of the NNM Belt, and the tectonic evolution of both belts was spatially closely linked during the time of the Mesoproterozoic amalgamation of Rodinia supercontinent (Lindeque et al., 2011). In both cases, the Neoarchean crust thickens from 40 to 45 km where it under-thrusts their respective Mesoproterozoic provinces (compare de Wit and Tinker, 2004 and Ludden and Hynes, 2000). But there are also many local and regional variations in Moho relief, and in places the Moho beneath the Grenville Belt reaches 50 km (Ludden and Hynes, 2000). Nevertheless, the relatively flat Moho sections beneath the Grenville and the NMMB are remarkably similar in the way they truncate their overlying, duplexed crust.

Much of the Moho beneath both the Archean and Mesoproterozoic provinces of Canada has also been extensively deformed by shearing and plastic flow during several episodes of metamorphism and melting of the lower crust (Ludden and Hynes, 2000). In many places a sharp near-flat Moho is discordant to the listric crustal structures above it due to 'tectonic shingling' (c.f. Cook, 1986), as is the case with similar structures above the relatively thin and flat Moho of the south-central part of the Kaapvaal Craton (de Wit and Tinker, 2004; James et al., 2003). The relatively low Archean crustal thickness in different parts of the western Superior province has been attributed to tectonic thinning by ductile shear and flow, as is the case for the south western Kaapvaal Craton described in this paper. Thus, whilst the Lithoprobe sections should be considered as a global baseline for late Archean crustal characteristics, these Archean terranes have also been subjected to later transformation. Therefore, here too, the precise variations of original Archean crustal thicknesses remain open to interpretation and require careful integration (and restoration) with knowledge of thermotectonism documented at surface, before a true formation thicknesses can be confidently established (Cook et al., 2010).

In all Lithoprobe transects, investigators have invoked modern plate tectonic processes to explain the seismic structures, regional tectonic histories and variations in Moho depths and characters, implying that relationships between tectonics and Moho structure also can be extended into the Archean (e.g. Eaton, 2005; Cook et al., 2010). It is beyond the scope of this paper to explore further details of plate tectonic interpretations for the Azanian Craton and Kalahari Shield. Suffice it to say that, similar to the Canadian examples, the observations in southern Africa are also compatible with such lithosphere processes (de Wit et al., 1992; Furnes et al., 2012, 2013a; Taylor et al., 2012, and references therein).

In summary, the Archean Kaapvaal Craton is not likely to reveal pristine Archean crustal thickness variations, and its greatly remobilised form cannot therefore provide unequivocal data for Archean geodynamic models dealing with secular changes in continental crust formation.

The only pristine Mesoarchean continental section that may preserve original Moho and crustal characteristics is exposed near the surface in and around the Vredefort impact site (ca. 2.02 Ga). There is at present no evidence from the Vredefort 'crust-on-edge' section that its thickness was substantially less than modern continental crust. However, whilst the interpretations of the field observations may eventually converge, the global significance of using this single site to reconstruct a plate tectonic Archean Earth will always remain controversial.

This mirrors the controversies related to the depth to Moho of Archean oceanic crust, believed to have been 15 to 23 km thick based on thermal arguments (e.g. van Thienen et al., 2004, and references therein), but for which there is no direct observational evidence. By contrast, field evidence from ophiolite fragments preserved in the Barberton Greenstone of the Kaapvaal Craton Belt (e.g. Furnes et al., 2012, 2013a, in press) suggests that preserved Archean oceanic sections, when restored, may have been thinner by a factor of two to three compared to the theoretical values based on calculations with potential mantle temperatures much greater than today (e.g. de Wit, 2004; de Wit et al., 1987, 2011; Furnes et al., 2012, 2013a, in press). But again, the global significance of these single locations from which to reconstruct an Archean plate tectonic Earth remains unresolved.

Finally, the regional crustal model of the Kaapvaal Craton includes a fast, felsic isotropic upper crustal layer (ca. 2.8-3.0 Ga) above a chemically intermediate and highly anisotropic, layered lower crust of 3.0-3.5 Ga age (e.g. Youssof et al., submitted for publication), consistent with observations in the crustal sections at Vredefort and the Ancient Gneiss Complex (e.g. Gibson and Reimold, 2008; Moser et al., 2001; Taylor et al., 2012). Youssof et al. (submitted for publication) interpret the substantial anisotropy in the lower crust as a result of a gneissic fabrics formed during tectono-magmatic processes that were active after cratonic assemblage (e.g. 2.0-2.7 Ga). The crustal contribution to the total anisotropy of the craton is surprisingly high and the depleted mantle of the cratonic area has 30-40% weaker residual anisotropy than previously believed (James et al., 2003; Nair et al., 2006; Nguuri et al., 2001; Nui and James, 2002; Silver et al., 2001, 2004). But this anisotropy clearly cuts across all major sub-vertical Archean shear zones, except within and flanking the central Limpopo Belt (Fig. 1; Silver et al., 2001, 2004; Youssof et al., submitted for publication), some of which transect the entire crust here down to Moho and possibly beyond in places (de Wit and Tinker, 2004; Good and de Wit, 1997). The anisotropy also transects the Mesoproterozoic east-west tectonic fabrics of the NMMB crust, and cuts across the tectonic boundary of the Kaapvaal-NMMB at a high angle. The fact that the anisotropy in the subcontinental mantle and the lower crust is sub-parallel (Fig. 1) suggests they have a common post-Archean origin.

The new data analyses of Youssof et al. (submitted for publication) show, for the first time, strong azimuthal crustal anisotropy in the lower crust of the entire southern African shield, and must therefore be relatively young and acquired predominantly during ultra-high temperature deformation and annealing post-1.0 Ga, and likely post-0.25 Ga because the mantle and the crustal anisotropy cut across all Mesoproterozoic tectonic fabrics mapped at surface (shear zones, faults, foliations), including the 1.0 Ga tectonic boundary between the Kaapvaal Craton and the NNMB and the 0.25 Ga tectonic front of the Cape Fold Belt. Thus, this anisotropy is likely related to a period of time during which the Gondwana/Africa plates moved near 50° latitude from the end-Paleozoic (300 Ma) to end-Mesozoic (65 Ma), and a further ca. 10° during the Cenozoic in a direction subparallel to the azimuth of the anisotropy (e.g. Buiter et al., 2012; de Wit, 2007; Vinnik et al., 1995; for an excellent animation of this movement see: http://www.reeves.nl/upload/SouthAtlantic1.gif). Throughout this time-span there was substantial episodic heating in the sub-continental mantle in response to plume activity of the Karoo LIP (ca. 180 Ma) and the Bouvet LIP (ca. 100 Ma), as well as widespread associated kimberlites activity across a wide region of the Kalahari Shield (e.g. Bell et al., 2003; Jelsma et al., 2004).

Subcontinental mantle seismic anisotropy was originally attributed to plate motion processes during the Mesozoic-Cenozoic (Vinnik et al., 1995). Notwithstanding the subsequent recognition of remnant Archean anisotropic fabrics preserved in the mantle lithosphere (Adam and Lebedev, 2012; Silver et al., 2004), this late Phanerozoic plate motion now appears the most parsimonious solution to the age of the more extended crust-mantle anisotropy found by Youssof et al. (submitted for publication). This is also because it is now also more clearly established that the horizontal plate movement during the Cretaceous was associated with heating of both the oceanic lithosphere (by the Karoo and Bouvet hotspots) and the continental lithosphere during extensive contemporaneous kimberlite activity across the Kalahari Shield and the epeirogenic uplift of southern Africa (e.g. de Wit, 2007; Torsvik et al., 2010). This coupled crust-mantle anisotropy also confirms that the motion of the Gondwana/Africa plates did not delaminate the Archean crust substantially from its subcontinental mantle, as is evident from the presence of old diamonds in the young kimberlites (e.g. Pearson, 1999; Pearson et al., 1998; Shirey and Richardson, 2011; Shirey et al., 2002) that confirm an overlapping age between the old cratonic mantle keel and its overlying crustal lid; and now also from the relative young age of the regional Moho.

The fundamental question that lingers on in Craton studies like the Kaapvaal Craton then is how substantial and repeated heating and thinning of its crust associated with large mantle derived volumes of the world-class LIPs that have affected this craton episodically since its Archean stabilisation (e.g. the Ventersdorp, the Bushveld, and Karoo LIPs) can be reconciled with the retention of old ages of lithospheric mantle diamonds brought to surface by Paleoproterozoic to Recent kimberlites. Apparently widespread heating processes that regionally affected old crust with ages commensurate to those reflected in the diamonds have not pervasively affected its underlying lithospheric mantle. It is likely therefore that the Moho beneath the Kaapvaal Craton predominantly reflects a recurring *thermo-chemical* erosion zone along which tectonic décollement was restricted, so that the crust and the depleted mantle lithosphere retained cohesion for more than 3.2 Gyr along a complex long-lived palimpsest.

It would be of great interest to calculate the amount of strain needed to reset the anisotropy both in the crust and mantle, yet retain their overall cohesion, but such calculations would depend on a significant number of (presently) unknown parameters, particularly the scale and rates of transient geothermal gradients before and after LIPS events, kimberlite activity, and fluid mobility during related metamorphic/ melting events. We are only now learning how to best interpret the geochemistry of mantle xenoliths and xenocrysts from different age kimberlites in terms of transient (palaeo-) geotherms and fluid mobility (e.g. Bell et al., 2003 and personal communications, 2013), so that reliable palaeo-strain gradients across the Moho remain to be determined. In summary, confidently tying the age and character of the Archean and Proterozoic crust of southern Africa to their depth diversities is still to be resolved, and reconstructing pristine Moho of the early Earth remains a formidable challenge. More detailed comparison between surface exposures such as at Vredefort and deep geophysics is needed to make new inroads.

Finally, the entire Agulhas bank is underlain by a shallow Moho (10–30 km), reflecting Cretaceous crustal thinning of the Mesoproterozoic NNMB crust by more than 50% because there is also considerable new Cretaceous underplating seen in the refraction seismic results. In addition, in some oceanic sectors like the Agulhas Plateau, old oceanic crust has been significantly thickened to more than 20 km by plume activity. This crustal thickening process should have affected significant continental sectors of southern Africa, including the Archean Craton, several times during large recurring punctuated mantle perturbations (e.g. the Ventersdorp LIP at ca. 2.7 Ga; the Bushveld LIP at ca.2.0 Ga; the Karoo LIP at ca. 0.2 Ga and the Agulhas LIP at 0.1 Ga). Apart from beneath the Bushveld and the Agulhas Bank, the Moho transitions described along our swaths apparently do not reveal significant mafic underplating. The effects of these recurring mantle perturbations on the sub-continental mantle and the Moho still wait to be unravelled.

Acknowledgements

This work is an outcome of the South Africa–German bilateral project Inkaba yeAfrica (2004–2012). We thank all out colleagues who helped make this project a success. This project also builds on the preceding bilateral South Africa–USA Kaapvaal Craton Project (1996–2002), without which the teleseismic data would not have been generated. We also owe a great deal of thanks to all its participants; and to those who participated in the recent (2013) TOPOAfrica workshop in South Africa. We are grateful to Hans Thybo for sharing their anisotropy analyses of the Kaapvaal Shield, to Stephan Sobolev for discourse about potential crustal changes during LIP events, to David Bell and Hielke Jelsma for many Kaapvaal discussions, and to Irina Artemieva for editorial guidance. This paper benefited from critical evaluations by Ron Clowes, Norman Sleep and a third, anonymous reviewer. This is Inkaba yeAfrica contribution number 68 and AEON contribution number 108.

References

- Adam, J.M.-C., Lebedev, S., 2012. Azimuthal anisotropy beneath southern Africa from very
- broad-band surface-wave dispersion measurements. Geophysic. J. Int. 191, 155–174.
 Armstrong, R.A., Compston, W., Retief, E.A., Williams, I.S., Welke, H.J., 1991. Zircon ion microprobe studies bearing on the age and evolution of the Witwatersrand Triad. Precambrian Res. 53, 243–266.
- Armstrong, R.A., Lana, C., Reimold, W.U., Gibson, R.L., 2006. SHRIMP zircon age constraints on Mesoarchean crustal development in the Vredefort dome, central Kaapvaal Craton, South Africa. Geol. Soc. Am. Spec. Pap. 405, 233–253.
- Bagai, Z., 2008. Geodynamic evolution and petrogenesis of the Neoarchean Francistown granite–greenstone complex in NE Botswana, SW margin of the Zimbabwe Craton. Unpublished PhD, Univ. of Cape Town.
- Bagai, Z., Armstrong, R., Kampunzu, A.B., 2002. U–Pb single zircon geochronology of granitoids in the Vumba granite–greenstone terrain (NE Botswana): implications for the Archean Zimbabwe Craton. Precambrian Res. 149–168.
- Barton, J.M., Klemd, R., 2010. Comment on the paper "Crustal structure of the Zimbabwe Craton and the Limpopo Belt of southern Africa: new constrains form seismic data and implications for its evolution" by Gore et al. S. Afr. J. Geol. 113, 239.
- Barton, J.M., Klemd, R., Zeh, A., 2006. The Limpopo Belt: a result of Archean to Proterozoic, Turkic-type orogenesis? Geol. Soc. Am. Spec. Pap. 405, 315–332.
- Bell, D.R., Schmitz, M.D., Janny, P.E., 2003. Mesozoic thermal evolution of southern African mantle lithosphere. Lithos 71, 273–287.
- Blenkinsop, T., Martin, A., Jelsma, H.A., 1997. The Zimbabwe Craton. In: de Wit, M.J., Ashwa, L.A. (Eds.), Greenstone Belts. Oxford University Press, UK, pp. 567–580.
- Brandl, G., de Wit, M.J., 1997. The Kaapvaal Craton, South Africa. In: de Wit, M.J., Ashwal, L. (Eds.), Greenstone Belts. Oxford Univ Press, UK, pp. 581–607.
- Broad, D.S., Jungslager, E.H.A., McLachlan, I.R., Roux, J., 2006. Geology of the offshore Mesozoic basins. In: Johnson, M.R. (Ed.), The Geology of South Africa, Geol. Soc. Of S. Afr., Pretoria, pp. 553–571.
- Brown, R.W., Summerfield, M.A., Gleadow, A.J., 2002. Denudation history along a transect across the Drakensberg Escarpment of southern Africa derived from apalite fission track thermochronology. J. Geophys. Res. 107 (B12), 242. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/ 2001 [B000745.

Buiter, S.J.H., Steinberger, B., Medvedev, S., Tetreault, J.L., 2012. Could the mantle have caused subsidence of the Congo Basin? Tectonophysics 514–517, 62–80.

- Burke, K., Gunnell, Y., 2008. The African erosion surface: a continental-scale synthesis of geomorphology, tectonics and environmental change over the past 180 million years. Geol. Soc. Am. Mem. 201, 66.
- Burke, K., Steinberger, B., Torsvik, T.H., Smethurst, M.A., 2008. Plume generation zones at the margins of large low shear velocity provinces on the core-mantle boundary. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 265, 49–60.
- Calvert, A.J., Sawyer, E.W., Davis, W.J., Ludden, J.N., 1995. Archean subduction inferred from seismic images of a mantle suture in the superior Province of Canada. Nature 375, 670–674.
- Carlson, R.W., Grove, T.L., De Wit, M.J., Gurney, J.J., 1996. Program to study crust and mantle of the Archean craton in southern Africa. EOS Trans. A. G. U. 77, 273–277.
- Carlson, R.W., et al., 2000. Continental growth, preservation and modification in southern Africa. GSA Today 10, 1–7.
- Cawthorn, R.G., Webb, S.J., 2001. Connectivity between the western and eastern limbs of the Bushveld Complex. Tectonophysics 330, 195–209.
- Clowes, R.M., 2010. Initiation, development, and benefits of Lithoprobe shaping the direction of Earth science research in Canada and beyond. Can. J. Earth Sci. 47, 291–314.
- Cook, F.A., 1986. Continental evolution by lithospheric shingling. In: Barazangi, M., Brown, L. (Eds.), Reflection seismology of the continental crust. AGU Geodynamics Series, 14, pp. 13–19.
- Cook, F.A., 2002. Fine structure of the continental reflection Moho. Geol. Soc. Am. Bull. 114, 64–79.
- Cook, F.A., Erdmer, P., 2005. A 1800 km crossection of the lithosphere through the northwestern North American plate: lessons from 4.0 billion years of Earth history. Can. J. Earth Sci. 42, 1295–1311.
- Cook, F.A., White, D.J., Jones, A.G., Easton, D.W.S., Hall, J., Clowes, R.M., 2010. How the crust meets the mantle: Lithoprobe perspectives on the Mohorovičič discontinuity and crust–mantle transition. Can. J. Earth Sci. 47, 315–351.
- Cornell, D.H., Thomas, R.J., Moen, H.F.G., Reid, D.L., Moore, J.M., Gibson, R.L., 2006. The Namaqua-Natal Province. In: Johnson, M.R., Anhaeusser, C.R., Thomas, R.J. (Eds.), The Geology of South Africa. Geological Society of South Africa/Council for Geoscience, pp. 325–379.
- de Wit, M.J., 2004. Archean greenstone belts do contain fragments of ophiolites. In: Kusky, T.M. (Ed.), Precambrian Ophiolites and Related Rocks. Developments in Precambrian Geology., 13. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 549–614.
- de Wit, M.J., 2007. The Kalahari Epeirogeny and climate change: differentiating cause and effect from Core to Space. Inkaba yeAfrica special volume. S. Afr. J. Geol. 110, 367–392.
- de Wit, M.J., Horsfield, B., 2006. Inkaba yeAfrica project surveys sector of Earth from core to space. EOS, A. G. U. 87, 113–117.
- de Wit, M.J., Tinker, J., 2004. Crustal structures across the central Kaapvaal Craton from deep-seismic reflection data. S. Afr. J. Geol. 107, 185–206.
- de Wit, M.J., Hart, R.A., Hart, R.J., 1987. The Jamestown Ophiolite Complex, Barberton greenstone belt: a section through 3.5 Ga oceanic crust. J. Afr. Earth Sci. 6, 681–730.
- de Wit, M.J., de Ronde, C.E.J., Tredoux, M., Roering, C., Hart, R.J., Armstrong, R.A., Green, R.W.E., Peberdy, E., Hart, R.A., 1992. Formation of an Archaean continent. Nature 357, 553–562.
- de Wit, M.J., Richardson, S.H., Ashwal, L.D. (Eds.), 2004. Kaapvaal Craton Special Volume S. Afr. Journ. Geology, 107 (324 pp.).
- de Wit, M.J., Furness, H., Robin, B., 2011. Geology and tectonostratigraphy of the Onverwacht Suite, Barberton Greenstone Belt, South Africa. Precambrian Res. 186, 1–27.
- Dewey, J.F., Robb, L., van Schalkwyk, L., 2006. Did Bushmanland extentionally unroof Namaqualand? Precambrian Res. 150, 173–182.
- Dirks, P.H.G.M., Charlesworth, E.G., Munyai, M.R., 2009. Cratonic extension and Archean gold mineralisation in the Sheba–Fairview mine, Barberton Greenstone Belt, South Africa. S. Afr. J. Geol. 112, 291–316.
- Doucouré, C.M., de Wit, M.J., 2003. Temporal variation in rigidity and mechanical behaviour of old thick continental lithosphere. S. Afr. J. Geol. 105, 39–50.
- Doyle, H., 1995. Seismology. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK (218 pp.).
- Durrheim, R.J., 1987. Seismic reflection and refraction studies of the deep structure of the Agulhas Bank. Geophys. J. R. Astron. Soc. 89, 395–398.
- Durrheim, R.J., Mooney, W.D., 1991. Archean and Proterozoic crustal evolution: evidence from crustal seismology. Geology 19, 606–609.
- Durrheim, R.J., Mooney, W.D., 1992. Comment and reply on "Archean and Proterozoic crustal evolution: evidence from crustal seismology". Geology 20, 664–665.
- Durrheim, R.J., Mooney, W.D., 1994. Evolution of the Precambrian lithosphere: seismological and geochemical constraints. J. Geophys. Res. 99, 15,359–15,374.
- Durrheim, R.J., Nicolaysen, L.O., Corner, B., 1991. A deep seismic reflection profile across the Archean–Proterozoic Witwatersrand Basin, South Africa. A. G. U. Geodyn. Ser. 22, 213–224.
- Durrheim, R.J., Barker, W.H., Green, R.W.E., 1992. Seismic studies of the Limpopo Belt. Precambrian Res. 55, 187–200.
- Eagles, G., König, M., 2008. A model of plate kinematics in Gondwana breakup. Geophys. J. Int. 173, 703–717.
- Eaton, D.W., 2005. Multi-genetic origin of the continental Moho: insights from LITHOPROBE. Terra Nova 18, 34–43.
- Eglington, B.M., 2006. Evolution of the Namaqua–Natal Belt, southern Africa a geochronological and isotope geochemical review. J. Afr. Earth Sci. 46, 93–111.
- Eglington, B.M., Armstrong, R.A., 2004. The Kaapvaal Craton and adjacent orogens, southern Africa: a geochronological database and overview of the geological development of the craton, South African. J. Geol. 107, 13–32.
- Flowers, R.M., Schoene, B., 2010. (U/Th)/He thermochronometry constraints on the unroofing of the eastern Kaapvaal Craton and significance for uplift of the southern Africa Plateau. Geology 38, 827–830.

- Furnes, H., Robins, B., de Wit, M., 2012. Geochemistry and petrology of lava in the upper onverwacht suite, Barberton Mountain Land, South Africa. S. Afr. J. Geol. 115, 171–210.
- Furnes, H., de Wit, M., Robins, B., 2013a. A review of new interpretations of the tectonostratigraphy, geochemistry and evolution of the Onverwacht Suite, Barberton Greenstone Belt, South Africa. Gondwana Res. 23, 403–428.
- Furnes, H., de Wit, M., Dilek, Y., 2013. Precambrian greenstone sequences represent different ophiolite types. Gondwana Res. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gr.2013.06.004 (in press).
- Gibbs, A.K., 1986. Seismic reflection profiles of Precambrian crust: a qualitative assessment. In: Barazangi, M., Brown, L. (Eds.), Reflection Seismology: A Global Perspective. Geodyn. Ser., 14. Am. Geophys. Union, Washington, DC, pp. 95–106 (339 pp.).
- Gibson, R.L., Reimold, W.U., 2008. Geology of the Vredefort Impact Structure., 97. Memoir, Council for Geoscience, Pretoria (181 pp.).
- Gohl, K., Uenzelmann-Neben, G., 2001. The crustal role of the Agulhas Plateau, southwest Indian Ocean: evidence from seismic profiling. Geophys. J. Int. 144, 632–646.
- Gohl, K., Uenzelmann-Neben, G., Grobys, N., 2011. Growth and dispersal of a Southeast African Large Igneous Province. S. Afr. J. Geol. 114, 379–386.
- Good, N., de Wit, M.J., 1997. The Thabazimbi–Murchison Lineament (TML) of the Kaapvaal Craton, South Africa: 2700 Ma of episodic deformation. J. Geol. Soc. London 154, 93–97.
- Gore, J., James, D.E., Zengeni, T.G., Gwavava, O., 2009. Crustal structure of the Zimbabwe Craton and the Limpopo Belt of southern Africa: new constrains form seismic data and implications for its evolution. S. Afr. J. Geol. 112, 213–228.
- Graham, K.W.T., Hales, A.L., 1965. Surface-ship gravity measurements in the Agulhas Bank area, south of South Africa. J. Geophys. Res. 70, 4005–4011.
- Green, R.W.E., Durrheim, R.J., 1990. A seismic refraction investigation of the Namaqualand metamorphic complex, South Africa. J. Geophys. Res. 95, 19,927–19,932.
- Guillocheau, et al., 2012. Quantification and causes of the terrigenous sediment budget at the scale of a continental margin: a new method applied to the Namibia–South Africa margin. Basin Res. 24, 3–30.
- Hales, A.L., Nation, J.B., 1972. A crustal structure profile of the Agulhas Bank. Bull. Seismol. Soc. Am. 62, 1029–1051.
- Hammer, P.T.C., Clowes, R.M., 1997. Moho reflectivity patterns a comparison of Canadian Lithoprobe transects. Tectonophysics 269, 179–198.
- Hart, R.J., Nicolaysen, I.O., Gale, N.H., 1981. Radioelement concentrations in the deep profile through Precambrian basement of the Vredefort structure. J. Geophys. Res. 86, 10639–10652.
- Hart, R.J., Andreoli, M.A.G., Smith, C.B., Otter, C.B., Durheim, R., 1990. Ultramafic rocks in the centre of the Vredefort structure: possible exposure of upper mantle. Chem. Geol. 83, 233–248.
- Hart, R.J., McDonald, I., Tredoux, M., de Wit, M.J., Carlson, R.W., Andreoli, M., Moser, D.E., Ashwal, L.D., 2004. New PGE and Re/Os isotope data from lower crustal sections of the Vredefort dome and a reinterpretation of its "crust on edge" profile. S. Afr. J. Geol. 107, 173–184.
- Harvey, J.D., de Wit, M.J., Stankiewicz, J., Doucoure, C.M., 2001. Structural variations of the crust in the Southwestern Cape, deduced from seismic receiver functions. S. Afr. J. Geol. 104, 231–242.
- Hatton, C.J., 1995. Mantle plume origin for the Bushveld and Ventersdorp magmatic provinces. J. Afr. Earth Sci. 21, 571–577.
- Hawkesworth, C.J., Dhuime, B., Pietranik, A.B., Cawood, P.A., Kemp, A.I.S., Storey, C.D., 2010. The generation and evolution of the continental crust. J. Geol. Soc. 167, 229–248.
- Hirsch, K.K., Bauer, K., Scheck-Wenderoth, M., 2008. Deep structure of the western South African passive margin – results of a combined approach of seismic, gravity and isostatic investigations. Tectonophysics 470, 57–70.
- Hynes, A., 2001. Freeboard revisited: continental growth, crustal thickness change and earth's thermal efficiency. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 185, 161–172.
- James, D.E., Fouch, M.J., VanDecar, J.C., van der Lee, S., Group, K.S., 2001. Tectospheric structure beneath southern Africa. Geophys. Res. Lett. 28, 2485–2488.
- James, D.E., Niu, F., Rokosky, J., 2003. Crustal structure of the Kaapvaal Craton and its significance for crustal evolution. Lithos 71, 413–429.
- Jarchow, C.M., Thompson, G.A., 1989. The nature of the Mohorovičič discontinuity. Ann. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci. 17, 475–506.
- Jelsma, H.A., Dirks, P.H.G.M., 2002. Neoarchaean tectonic evolution of the Zimbabwe Craton. In: Fowler, C.M.R., Ebinger, C.J., Hawkesworth, C.J. (Eds.), The early Earth: physical, chemical, and biological development. Geol. Soc. London, Spec. Publ., 199, pp. 183–211.
- Jelsma, H.A., de Wit, M.J., Thiart, C., Dirks, P.H.G.M., Viola, G., Basson, I.J., Anckar, E., 2004. Preferential distribution along transcontinental corridors of kimberlites and related rocks of Southern Africa. S. Afr. J. Geol. 107, 301–324.
- Johnson, M.R., van Vuuren, C.J., Hegenberger, W.F., Key, R., Shoko, U., 1996. Stratigraphy of the Karoo Supergroup in southern Africa: an overview. J. Afr. Earth Sci. 23, 3–15.
- Keller, C., Schoene, B., 2012. Statistical geochemistry reveals disruption in secular lithospheric evolution 2.5 Gyr ago. Nature 490–493.
- Kgaswane, E.M., Nyblade, A.A., Julia, J., Dirks, P.H.G.M., Durheim, R.J., Pasyanos, M.E., 2009. Shear wave velocity structure of the lower crust in southern Africa: evidence for compositional heterogeneity within Archean and Proterozoic terrains. J. Geophys. Res. 114, B12304. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2008JB006217.
- König, M., Jokat, W., 2006. The Mesozoic breakup of the Weddell Sea. J. Geophys. Res. 111, B12102.
- Kwadiba, M.T.O.G., Wright, C., Kgaswane, E.M., Simon, R.E., Nguuri, T.K., 2003. *Pn* arrivals and lateral variations of Moho geometry beneath the Kaapvaal Craton. Lithos 71, 393–411.
- Lana, C., Gibson, R.L., Kirsters, A.F.M., Reimold, W.U., 2003. Archean crustal structure of the Kaapvaal Craton, South Africa–evidence from the Vredefort dome. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 206, 133–144.
- Lana, C., Reimold, W.U., Gibson, R.L., Koeberl, C., Siegesmund, S., 2004. Nature of the Archean mid-crust in the central Kaapvaal Craton, South Africa – evidence from the Vredefort dome. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 68, 623–642.

- Le Pichon, X., Heirtzler, J.R., 1968. Magnetic anomalies in the Indian Ocean and seafloor spreading. J. Geophys. Res. 73, 2101–2117.
- Lindeque, A.S., Ryberg, T., Stankiewicz, J., Weber, M.H., de Wit, M.J., 2007. Deep crustal seismic reflection experiment across the southern Karoo Basin, South Africa. S. Afr. J. Geol. 110, 419–438.
- Lindeque, A., de Wit, M.J., Ryberg, T., Weber, M., Chevallier, C., 2011. Deep crustal profile across the southern Karoo Basin and Beattie Magnetic Anomaly, South Africa: an integrated interpretation with tectonic implications. S. Afr. J. Geol. 114, 265–292.
- Ludden, J., Hynes, A., 2000. The Lithoprobe Abitibi–Grenville transect: two billion years of crust formation and recycling in the Precambrian Shield of Canada. Can. J. Earth Sci. 37, 459–476.
- Mapeo, R.B.M., Kampunzu, A.B., Ramokate, L.V., Corfu, F., Key, R.M., 2004. Bushveld age magmatism in southeastern Botswana: evidence from U–Pb zircon and titanite geochronology. S. Afr. J. Geol. 107, 219–232.
- McCourt, S., Vearncombe, J.R., 1992. Shear zones of the Limpopo Belt and adjacent granite–greenstone terranes: implications for late Archean collision tectonics in southern Africa. Precambrian Res. 55, 553–570.
- McCourt, S., Kampunzu, A.B., Bagai, Z., Armstrong, R.A., 2004. The crustal architecture of Archean terranes in northeastern Botswana. S. Afr. J. Geol. 107, 147–158.
- McMillan, I.K., Brink, G.I., Broad, D.S., Maier, J.J., 1997. Late Mesozoic basins off the south coast of South Africa. In: Selley, C. (Ed.), African Basins. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 319–376.
- Meissner, R., 1986. The Continental Crust: A Geophysical Approach. Academic Press, London (426 pp.).
- Mengel, K., Kern, K., 1992. Evolution of the petrological and seismic Moho implications for the continental crust–mantle boundary. Terra Nova 4, 109–116.
- Mooney, W.D., Laske, G., Masters, T.G., 1998. CRUST 5.1: a global crustal model at 5×5 degrees. J. Geophys. Res. 103, 727–747.
- Moser, D.E., Flowers, R.M., Hart, R.J., 2001. Birth of the Kaapvaal tectosphere 3.08 billion years ago. Science 291, 465–468.
- Moyen, J.-M., van Hunen, J., 2012. Short-term episodicity of Archaean plate tectonics. Geology 40, 451–454.
- Mueller, St, Ansorge, J., 1989. The crustal structure of western Europe. Ann. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci. 17, 335–360.
- Nair, S.K., Gao, S.S., Liu, K.H., Silver, P.G., 2006. Southern African crustal evolution and composition: constraints from receiver function studies. J. Geophys. Res. 111, B02304. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2005JB003802.
- Nguuri, T.K., Gore, J., James, D.E., Webb, S.J., Wright, C., Zengeni, T.G., Gwavava, O., Snoke, J.A., 2001. Crustal structure beneath southern Africa and its implications for the formation and evolution of the Kaapvaal and Zimbabwe cratons. Geophys. Res. Lett. 28, 2501–2504.
- Nui, F., James, D.E., 2002. Constraints on the formation and composition of crust beneath the Kaapvaal Craton from Moho reverberations. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 200, 121–130.
- Nyblade, A.A., Sleep, N.H., 2003. Long lasting epeirogenic uplift from mantle plumes and the origin of the Southern African Plateau. Geochem. Geophys. Geosyst. 4 (2003GC000573).
- Parsiegla, N., Gohl, K., Uenzelmann-Neben, G., 2008. The Agulhas Plateau: structure and evolution of a Large Igneous Province. Geophys. J. Int. 174, 336–350.
- Parsiegla, N., Stankiewicz, J., Gohl, K., Ryberg, T., Uenzelmann-Neben, G., 2009. Southern African continental margin: dynamic processed of a transform margin. Geochem. Geophys. Geosyst. 10, Q03007.
- Pearson, D.G., 1999. Evolution of the cratonic lithosphere mantle: an isotopic perspective. A tribute to Francis R. (Joe) Boyd In: Fei, Y., Berthka, C.M., Mysen, B.O. (Eds.), Mantle Petrology: Field Observations and High-pressure Experimentation. The Geochemical Society Special Publications, Houston, TX, pp. 57–78.
- Pearson, D.G., Shirey, S.B., Harris, J.W., Carlson, R.W., 1998. Sulphide inclusions in diamonds from the Koffiefontein kimberlite. S. Africa: constraints on diamond ages and mantle Re–Os systematics. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 160, 311–326.
- Percival, J.A., West, G.F., 1994. The Kapuskasing uplift: a geological and geophysical synthesis. In: Percival, J.A. (Ed.), The Kapuskasing transect of Lithoprobe. Can, J. Earth Sci., 31, pp. 1256–1286.
- Percival, J.A., Cook, F.A., Clowes, R.M., 2012. Tectonic styles in Canada: the LITHOPROBE perspective. Geological Association of Canada Special Paper., 49 (498 pp.).
- Petitjean, S., Rabiniwicz, M., Gregoire, M., Chevrot, S., 2006. Differences between Archean and Proterozoic lithospheres: assessment of the possible major role of thermal conductivity. Geochem. Geophys. Geosyst. 7, Q03021.
- Pretorius, W., Barton, J.M., 2003. Measured and calculated compressional wave velocities of crustal and upper mantle rocks in the Central Zone of the Limpopo Belt, South Africa – implications for lithospheric structure. S. Afr. J. Geol. 106, 205–212.
- Roering, C., van Reenen, D.D., Smit, C.A., Barton, J.M., de Beer, J.H., de Wit, M.J., Stettler, E.H., van Schalkwyk, J.F., Stevens, G., Pretorius, S., 1992. Tectonic models for the evolution of the Limpopo Belt. Precambrian Res. 55, 539–552.
- Rouby, D., Bonnet, S., Guillocheau, F., Gallaher, K., Robin, C., Biancotto, F., Braun, J., 2009. Sediment supply to the Orange sedimentary system over the last 150 My: an evaluation from sedimentary/denudation balance. Mar. Pet. Geol. 26, 782–794.
- Rudnick, R.L., 1995. Making continental crust. Nature 378, 571-578
- Scharf, T.E., Codilean, T.A., de Wit, M.J., Jansen, J.D., Kubik, P.W., 2013. Strong rocks sustain ancient postorogenic topography in southern Africa. Geology 41, 331–334.
- Schmitz, M.D., Bowring, S.A., 2000. The significance of U–Pb zircon dates in the lower crustal xenoliths from the southwestern margin of the Kaapvaal Craton, southern Africa. Chem. Geol. 172, 50–76.
- Schmitz, M.D., Bowring, S.A., 2003. Ultrahigh-temperature metamorphism in the lower crust during Neoarchean Ventersdorp rifting and magmatism, Kaapvaal Craton, southern Africa. Geol. Soc. Am. Bull. 115, 533–548.

- Schmitz, M.D., Bowring, S.A., 2004. Lower crustal granulite formation during Mesoproterozoic Namaqua-Natal collisional orogenesis, southern Africa. S. Afr. Journ. Geology 107, 261–284.
- Schmitz, M.D., Bowring, S.A., de Wit, M.J., Gartz, V., 2004. Subduction and terrane collision stabilize the western Kaapvaal Craton tectosphere 2.9 billion years ago. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 222, 363–376.
- Schoene, B., de Wit, M.J., Bowring, S., 2008. Mesoarchean assembly and stabilization of the eastern Kaapvaal Craton: a structural-thermochronological perspective. Tectonics 27, TC5010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2008TC002267.
- Schoene, B., Dudas, F.O.L., Bowring, S.A., de Wit, M., 2009. Sm–Nd isotopic mapping of lithospheric growth and stabilization in the eastern Kaapvaal Craton. Terra Nova 21, 219–228.
- Scrutton, R.A., 1973. Structure and evolution of the sea floor south of South Africa. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 19, 250–256.
- Shirey, S.B., Richardson, S.H., 2011. Start of the Wilson cycle at 3 Ga shown by diamonds from subcontinental mantle. Science 333, 434–436.
- Shirey, S.B., Harris, J.W., Richardson, S.H., Fouch, M.J., James, D.E., Cartigny, P., Deines, P., Viljoen, F., 2002. Diamond genesis, seismic structure, and evolution of the Kaapvaal– Zimbabwe Craton. Science 297, 1683–1685.
- Silver, P.G., Gao, S.S., Liu, K.H., Kaapvaal Seismic Group, 2001. Mantle deformation beneath southern Africa. Geophys. Res. Lett. 28, 2493–2496.
- Silver, P.G., Fouch, M., Gao, S., Schmitz, M., 2004. Seismic anisotropy, mantle fabric, and the magmatic evolution of Precambrian southern Africa. S. Afr. J. Geol. 107, 45–58.
- Slawson, W.F., 1976. Vredefort core: a cross section of the upper crust? Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 40, 117–121.
- Sobolev, S.V., Sobolev, A.V., Kuzmin, D.V., Krivolutskaya, N.A., Petrunin, A.G., Arndt, N.T., Radko, V.A., Vasiliev, Y.R., 2011. Linking mantle plumes, large igneous provinces and environmental catastrophes. Nature 477, 312–316.
- Stankiewicz, J., Chevrot, S., van der Hilst, R.D., de Wit, M.J., 2002. Crustal thickness, discontinuity depth, and upper mantle structure beneath southern Africa: constraints from body wave conversions. Phys. Earth Planet. Inter. 130, 235–251.
- Stankiewicz, J., Parsiegla, N., Ryberg, T., Gohl, K., Trumbull, R., Weckmann, U., Weber, M., 2008. Crustal structure of the southern margin of the African continent: results from geophysical experiments. J. Geophys. Res. 113, B10313.
- Stuart, G.W., Zengeni, T.G., 1987. Seismic crustal structure of the Limpopo mobile belt, Zimbabwe. Tectonophysics 144, 323–335.
- Tankard, A., Welsink, H., Aukes, P., Newton, R., Stettler, E., 2009. Tectonic evolution of the Cape and Karoo basins of South Africa. Mar. Pet. Geol. 26, 1379–1412.
- Taylor, S.R., McLennan, S.M., 1985. The Continental Crust: Its Composition and Evolution. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK (312 pp.).
- Taylor, J., Stevens, G., Armstrong, R., Kisters, A.F.M., 2010. Granulite facies anatexis in the Archean Gneiss Complex, Swaziland, at 2.73 Ga: mid crustal metamorphic evidence for mantle heating of the Kaapvaal Craton during Ventersdorp magmatism. Precambrian Res. 77, 88–102.
- Taylor, J., Stevens, G., Buick, I.S., Lana, C., 2012. Successive midcrustal, high grade metamorphic evens provide insights into Mid Archean mountain-building along SE Margin of the Proto-Kaapvaal Craton. Geol. Soc. Am. Bull. 124, 1191–1211.
- Tinker, J., de Wit, M.J., Grotzinger, J., 2002. Seismic stratigraphic constraints on Neoarchean–Paleoproterozoic evolution of the western margin of the Kaapvaal Craton. S. Afr. J. Geol. 105, 107–134.
- Tinker, J., de Wit, M.J., Royden, W., 2004. Old, strong continental lithosphere with weak Archaean margin at 1.8 Ga, Kaapvaal Craton South Africa. S. Afr. J. Geology 107, 255–260.
- Tinker, J., de Wit, M.J., Brown, R., 2008. Mesozoic exhumation of the southern Cape, South Africa, quantified using apatite fission track thermochronology. Tectonophysics 455, 77–93.
- Torsvik, T.H., Burke, K., Steinberger, B., Webb, S.J., Ashwal, L.D., 2010. Diamonds sampled by plumes from the core–mantle boundary. Nature 466, 352–357.
- Tucholke, B.E., Houtz, R.E., Barrett, D.M., 1981. Continental crust beneath the Agulhas Plateau, southwest Indian Ocean. J. Geophys. Res. 86, 3791–3806.
- Uenzelmann-Neben, G., Gohl, K., Ehrhardt, A., 1999. Agulhas Plateau, SW Indian Ocean: new evidence for extensive volcanism. Geophys. Res. Lett. 26, 1941–1944.
- van Thienen, P., Vlaar, N.J., van den Berg, A.P., 2004. Plate tectonics on the terrestrial planets. Phys. Earth Planet. Inter. 142, 61–74.
- Vinnik, L.P., Green, R.W.E., Nicolaysen, L.O., 1995. Recent deformations of the deep continental root beneath southern Africa. Nature 375, 50–52.
- Wever, T., 1992. Comment and reply on "Archean and Proterozoic crustal evolution: evidence from crustal seismology". Geology 20, 664–665.
- Wright, C., Kgaswane, E.M., Kwadiba, M.T.O., Simon, R.E., Nguuri, T.K., McRae-Samuel, R., 2003. South African seismicity, April 1997 to April 1999, and regional variations in the crust and uppermost mantle of the Kaapvaal Craton. Lithos 71, 369–392.
- Xie, H., Hofmann, A., Hegner, E., Wilson, A., Wan, Y., Dunyi Liu, D., 2012. Zircon SHRIMP dating confirms a Palaeoarchaean supracrustal terrain in the southeastern Kaapvaal Craton, southern Africa. Gondwana Res. 21, 818–828.
- Youssof, M., Thybo, H., Levander, A., Yuan, X., 2013. Strong anisotropy in cratonic lower crust of southern Africa revealed by receiver functions. Geochem. Geophys. Geosyst. (submitted for publication).
- Zeh, A., Gerdes, A., Barton, J.M., 2009. Archean accretion and crustal evolution of the Kalahari craton—the zircon age and Hf isotope record of granitic rocks from Barberton/Swaziland to the Francistown Arc. J. Petrol. 50, 933–966.
- Zeh, A., Gerdes, A., Millonig, L., 2011. Hafnium isotope record of the Ancient Gneiss Complex, Swaziland, southern Africa: evidence for Archaean crust–mantle formation and crust reworking between 3.66 and 2.73 Ga. J. Geol. Soc. London 168, 953–964.